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1 Foreword
 

Foreword by the Accounting Officer 
I was appointed Accounting Officer for the Fire Service College on successful 
completion of the sale of the College’s training business to the private sector.  My 
role as Accounting Officer has been focussed on the closedown of the Trading Fund 
and transfer of all remaining assets and liabilities to the Department.  This is 
therefore the last Annual Report to be prepared by the College whilst in public 
ownership. 

The College was sold to Capita for an enterprise value of £10m, which was subject to 
adjustments for stamp duty and to take account of the College’s financial position at 
completion of sale. The sale will deliver new investment to secure the future of the 
College and represented a good deal for taxpayers and value for money1. 

In addition to the consideration, the Department will share in any future profits from 
the development of College land through a claw-back provision, and will receive 
further revenue from the sale of a number of houses previously part of the College 
estate. More importantly, Capita have also committed to a significant programme of 
infrastructure investment and transformation at the College, and are keen to ensure 
that training courses deliver improved value for money. 

Taken together the sale of the College has the potential to deliver an estimated 
benefit of £30m to the taxpayer in the first few years and at the same time secure the 
College’s future. 

To effect the sale, the Department set up a new company, Fire Service College Ltd 
(FSCL) with a single share held on behalf of the Secretary of State.  The business of 
the College, including its assets and liabilities (excluding certain retained assets and 
liabilities) and employees, were transferred by the Department into FSCL and were 
then sold to Capita. The Trading Fund ceased trading at this point and the values of 
all assets and liabilities forming part of the sale were treated as disposals in the 
accounts and written down to nil. Its remaining assets and liabilities were transferred 
to DCLG during March 2013. Therefore, the trading results for the current year in 
these accounts relate to the 11 month period from 1 April 2012 to 28 February 2013; 
2011-12 figures are for 12 months unless otherwise stated.  Because all the assets 
and liabilities were written out of the accounts the closing Statement of Financial 
Position at 31 March 2013 shows zero balances. 

The Fire Service College Trading Fund (Revocation) Order 2013 came into effect on 
1 April 2013. As a result of the revocation, the Trading Fund for the operations of the 
College ceased to exist on 31 March 2013. 

I am conscious of the long history of the College and its major contribution to the Fire 
Service of this country. That we have managed to secure this into the future through 
the terms of its sale to the private sector is a major success and all those involved in 
the College can take pride in its achievement. 

1  The Department’s announcement of the sale is at https://www.gov.uk/government/news/sale-of-the-
fire-service-college-completed 
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1 Foreword 

Finally, on behalf of the Department, I would like to thank all the staff of the College 
for their contributions and wish them, and the College itself, the very best for the 
future. 

NEIL O’CONNOR 
Accounting Officer – The Fire Service College 
Director for Fire, Resilience and Emergencies 

Department of Communities and Local Government 
29 November 2013 
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Introduction and background 
An award-winning leader in fire and emergency response training, the Fire Service 
College is one of the world’s largest operational fire and rescue training facilities.  
Located in Moreton-in-Marsh in Gloucestershire the College has specialised in 
providing dedicated training for Fire and Rescue Services (FRSs), emergency 
responders and a wide spectrum of commercial and public sector clients globally.  
On 1 April 1992 the College became an Executive Agency, sponsored at the time by 
the Home Office, and at the time of closure by the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (DCLG).  It operated as a Trading Fund which continued until 28 
February 2013, when the Department, acting for the Secretary of State, sold the Fire 
Service College business and all operational assets and liabilities to Capita Business 
Services Limited a subsidiary of Capita plc (for simplicity this document uses ‘Capita’ 
to describe the purchasing body). The College will continue to provide fire and 
emergency response training on its present site under its new private sector owners. 
Throughout 2012-13 the College worked with the Chief Fire Officers’ Association 
(CFOA) to provide FRSs with consistent, national training standards in order to 
enhance their capabilities, operational effectiveness and safety – in support of intra-
operability within FRSs and inter-operability with other emergency services and 
critical infrastructure organisations.  Technical fire training focused on the core 
responsibilities contained in the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and was 
significantly enhanced by the sharing of good practice, innovation, expert knowledge 
and experience across our customer base. 
The Sale of the College business 
The Government’s response to the sector-led Fire Futures Report on 12 April 2011 
stated that the College could achieve its potential only with greater involvement from 
other sectors (whether private, public or voluntary) in its ownership, operation and 
governance, and that Government would explore with the fire sector and other 
organisations options to secure the future of the College. 
A pre-market engagement exercise was launched in September 2011 to invite 
stakeholder views and to assess the level of private sector interest in the College. 
The pre-market engagement proved extremely useful in enabling the Department to 
obtain sector support and gauge private sector appetite.   
The Business Case prepared in December 2011 by DCLG considered a wide range 
of options including selling the College as a going concern, a Government owned 
Contracted out (‘GoCo’) model and closure.  Analysis of those options showed, both 
in policy and value for money terms, that selling the College as a going concern was 
the best option. 
On 22 March 2012 the then Fire Minister, Bob Neill, announced that the College was 
to be sold as a going concern to a private sector company who would continue to run 
it as a training college. The sale process formally commenced on 10 April 2012 and 
on 13 December 2012 the Fire Minister, Brandon Lewis MP, announced that Capita 
had been chosen as the preferred bidder following a thorough, fair and open process.  
The project to sell the Fire Service College had three key objectives: 
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•	 to secure the College’s future as a provider of fire and rescue and wider 
emergency services operational and leadership training and as a venue for 
large multi-agency exercises; 

•	 to ensure overall value for money for DCLG, UK FRSs and the taxpayer, 
including transaction receipts; and 

•	 to secure continuing access to the national resilience strategic assets. 
The sale to Capita was completed on 28 February 2013.  The sale encompassed 
those assets and liabilities needed to continue to run the College as an operational 
business. The enterprise value of the sale was £10 million, which was subject to 
agreed adjustments and to take account of changes to the College’s working capital 
position at completion of sale, resulting in a cash receipt of about £9.2 million.  
Although the College reported to the Secretary of State and was legally part of the 
Department its finances and accounts were separate.  It is considered though that 
the sale represented the disposal by the Department of the College’s operational 
business and as such the proceeds have been accounted for by the Department.  As 
a result all assets and liabilities held by the College and included in the sale were 
written off to zero in the College’s accounts and reported as a loss.  Dwellings on the 
site not required by the operational business were transferred to the Department 
using absorption accounting rules and the remaining assets and liabilities 
representing the non-operational parts of the College were written off during March 
2013. As required by accounting standards these losses and transfers were made 
through the College’s Statement of Comprehensive Income resulting in a large 
charge for the year (£28.5 million) and a large accounting loss (£33.2m).  The 
proceeds of the sale (£9.2m) and a gain from recognising the dwellings (£5.8m) were 
recognised by the Department. 
In addition, the Department, as successor body to the College, will share in any 
future profits from the development of College land.  Capita has also committed to 
invest in a significant programme of infrastructure and transformation and is keen to 
ensure that training courses deliver improved value for money. Taken together the 
sale of the College has the potential to deliver significant benefits to the exchequer in 
the first few years and at the same time secure the College’s future. 
The Government has secured a number of conditions on the sale, including 
commitments not only that the College will continue in use as a national training 
college for fire and rescue authorities, but also that it will continue to offer wider 
national resilience and emergency services training and exercises.  Government 
permission will also be required if Capita wish to sell the incident ground.  
This Annual Report and Accounts therefore covers the 11 months of trading prior to 
sale, the non trading period until the final closure of the Trading Fund and the write 
off and transfer of the remaining assets and liabilities to zero values in the closing 
Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2013.   
Strategy 
The College’s strategy was laid out in its 2012-13 Business Plan: 

•	 Support FRS intra-operability – delivering a common and consistent approach 
to operational and leadership training, linked to the development of operational 
guidance and doctrine and to a national qualification framework, in order to 
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improve FRS intra-operability, while providing the FRS with economies of 
scale for training. The College worked with CFOA, the Local Government 
Association (LGA) and others through the Strategic Stakeholder Board to 
achieve this. 

•	 Support multi-agency interoperability – developing this emerging market for 
multi-agency joint training and exercising, especially at the bronze level and 
for vertical command training, as well as contributing to the development and 
delivery of multi-agency doctrine.  Multi-agency training includes other 
responders and critical infrastructure organisations and is not limited to the 
emergency services. 

•	 Exploit the College’s position at the heart of the FRS and its developing 
position in the UK multi-agency interoperability training market, to grow 
business with international governments and private sector clients. 

Strategic Objective 
To support the Department for Communities and Local Government to deliver the 
sale of the College as a going concern to a private sector company by the end of the 
2012-13 trading year. 
Organisation 
Operations during 2012-13 were overseen by the Fire Service College Management 
Board consisting of five Executive Directors, including the Chief Executive, and three 
Non-Executive Directors. One of the non-executive appointments acted as Chair.  
The Head of Human Resources and the Head of Business Assurance also attended 
each meeting. The work of the Management Board and Management Team was 
underpinned by important contributions from our Strategic Stakeholder Board, Audit 
Committee, Capital Expenditure Board, Health, Safety & Welfare Action Group and 
Product Board. 
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Notes: 

1. The details of Salary and Pension entitlements can be found in Section 3, the 
Remuneration Report, on page 21. 

2. The interim contractual arrangements with Mr Vogel and Mr Copley are also set 
out in Section 3. 

- 6 -




 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

2 Annual Report
 

Review of 2012-13 
The drive for improvement continued throughout 2012-13, in parallel with the 
preparations and provisions of information to facilitate the sale of the business. 
Financial 
A report on our financial activities in 2012-13 can be found on pages 14 – 19.   
Commercial 
The College continued to strive to be more price-competitive.  It operated in a highly 
competitive market and within the constraints of the Trading Fund model, continued 
to adapt to better address the needs of our customers in a cost effective way.   
Operations 
The Operations directorate continued to work closely with the core FRS customers 
through the re-focused Strategic Stakeholder Board, the Product Board, the CFOA 
Operations and People & Organisational Development Committees including their 
associated working groups. This enabled the College to better understand key 
customer requirements and to receive objective feedback on training quality. The 
Strategic Stakeholder Board supported the College‘s drive to provide products which 
“promote common operating standards, resilience and interoperability”. This 
customer insight continued to place the College in a strong competitive position, both 
in the UK and internationally as UK standards can be exported. During 2012-13 
these arrangements enabled the College to successfully introduce a range of new 
training courses for Incident Command, Breathing Apparatus, Fire Safety, and 
Leadership and Management which resulted in increased take up by its customers. 
The directorate was successfully restructured in early 2012 to realise efficiency 
savings and provide a more flexible approach to training provision. The new structure 
incorporated a dedicated new product development capability which was successful 
in ensuring the College was able to meet customer requirements through the 
provision of innovative products that comply with nationally accredited standards 
where applicable or industry best practice. Examples of new products introduced 
during 2012-13 include the Skills for Justice national qualifications for fire safety and 
incident command referred to above. Additionally, the College developed a 
progressive leadership model for supervisory and middle managers, which was 
piloted in March 2013. 
The directorate also provided dedicated resources to specialist areas such as fire 
investigation, urban search and rescue, and hazardous materials.  
Improvements in customer satisfaction are covered under Key Performance 
Indicators – see pages 12 – 14 below. 
People 
During the period to sale, the College continued to be staffed mainly by civil servants, 
although the majority of its instructors were seconded into the College from UK Fire 
and Rescue Authorities (FRAs). The secondees were primarily engaged within the 
Operations Directorate for training delivery purposes, with two secondees focused on 
product development. There were also three FRA secondees who worked in the 
Business Development and Marketing Directorate. 
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Overall staffing in the College was reduced in response to the decrease in revenues, 
with the majority of turnover within civil service posts. Similarly, all recent civil service 
entrants were recruited on fixed term appointments.  Secondee numbers, as the key 
to successful training delivery, were increased during this period despite the 
problems with the supply pool within the UK FRAs. The College also attracted a 
number of strong candidates for its short-term attachments demonstrating the value 
placed on the College by the wider service. 
Revised secondee terms and conditions were implemented in the year and a number 
of provisions tightened to reflect the increasingly commercial nature of the College. In 
addition, the College focused on a number of people issues including absence rates, 
management capability and ownership and joint working. These initiatives had a 
positive effect on the day-to-day running of the College and enabled it to manage 
workloads and to effectively allocate staffing resources more flexibly to meet 
operational needs. 
On sale the College’s operational staff were transferred to Capita under TUPE terms 
and there were no redundancies. 
Summary headcount trend: 
Full Time Equivalent (FTE) 28 February 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 
average per year 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 

actual actual actual actual actual 

Civil servants 136 149 162 173 188 
FRS secondees  33  29  32  40  42  

Total 169 178 194 213 230 

(Note: figures above do not include short term seconded staff or visiting lecturers and tutors.) 

The Estate 
The College was able to increase the budget allocation for statutory and planned 
works to ensure compliance and to reduce the impact of breakdown or failure on 
training delivery. 
In early 2013, the College completed a number of projects: 

•	 new railway scenario – along with a level crossing and freight yard, a platform 
with a derailed passenger rail carriage was constructed together with an 
extensive railway ‘cutting’.  This new training facility significantly extended the 
College’s rail based capability. 

•	 combined lounge and prayer facility – to meet the religious requirements and 
social expectations of delegates from our Middle East customer base, a new 
purpose built facility was constructed. 

During the year the College implemented a change in emphasis for the provision of 
Facilities Management services towards ‘hotel style’ customer service and a 
significant number of improvements (at no additional contract cost) were introduced, 
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mainly within catering and housekeeping services; these improvements were 
received positively by customers. 
Environmental issues and community engagement 
The College had, since 2006, been monitoring airborne emissions from the fire 
training activity using passive diffusion tube detectors located alongside the boundary 
fence. During the year we commissioned an additional survey of airborne 
particulates (PM10), the results of which established that the effects of carbonaceous 
and hydrocarbon fires on particulate concentrations in the area is likely to be short 
term and transient in nature. 
In late November 2012, following a period of prolonged heavy rainfall which had 
adversely affected ground water levels across the country, a deluge significantly and 
rapidly increased the demand on the on-site drainage systems. The capability of the 
drainage systems to function effectively was reduced due to offsite factors outside 
the College’s control and, as a consequence, an oil pollution incident to a local water 
course and adjoining farmland occurred to which the College responded promptly. 
Both the Environment Agency and Cotswold District Council attended the incident 
and were kept fully informed of action taken by the College to both remediate the 
contaminated environment and to reduce the likelihood of re-occurrence.   
A continuing theme has been for the College to reduce its impact on the environment 
from the disposal of waste to landfill.  We continued to work with our suppliers to 
minimise packaging at source and recycled ten different waste streams including 
glass, compact discs, paper, cardboard, plastic, food, metal, batteries, cooking and 
vehicle oil and vehicle tyres. 
Sustainability 
Greenhouse gas emissions 
The College was only able to measure performance on Greenhouse gas emissions at 
the highest level as shown in the following table. Total greenhouse gas emissions, 
consumption and expenditure from energy, waste and water are summarised below: 

Area Unit 
Performance 

2012 – 13* 2011 – 12* 
£’000 units £’000 units 

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scopes 1 & 2 
plus Business Travel including international air 
travel) 

Tonnes 
CO2e * 2,915 3,391 

Energy Consumption 

Expenditure 

kWh 
millions 
£’000 489 

11.0 

465 

11.8 

Waste Consumption 
Expenditure 

tonnes 
£’000 49 

127.9 
52 

127.6 

Water Consumption 
Expenditure 

m3’000 
£’000 124 

70.8 
120 

70.5 

* Consumption and costs for 11 months to 28 February 2013 only, 2011-12; 12 months. 
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Biodiversity 
Whilst detailed, long term Biodiversity Plans are yet to be fully developed, the College 
continued to observe the requirements of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, in 
particular in respect of protecting the colonies and habitat of great crested newts that 
inhabit water courses on site. The large areas of native woodland, together with the 
associated flora that exists under the tree canopy, are retained as a natural boundary 
to the site. During the year, the College notified the Forestry Commission of potential 
ash die back amongst the woodland on site.  It is worth noting that, as part of an 
annual programme, the deer population on site is surveyed by the Defence Estates 
Deer Management and the necessary measures are implemented to both maintain 
the health of the herd and to protect/secure the availability of foraging habitat. 
Sustainable procurement 
The profile of purchases (predominantly low value purchases from local Small 
Medium Enterprise (SME) suppliers) within the College did not support 
implementation of a Sustainable Procurement programme in itself. However, there 
were specific purchasing actions that, in themselves, supported sustainability in line 
with HMT Sustainability Reporting in the Public Sector and Greening Government 
Commitments: 

• all electricity was from ‘green’ generation; 

• office paper was 100% recycled; 

•	 wherever possible we purchased from local SMEs, reducing greenhouse gas 

emissions associated with transport; 

• our catering supplier supported Fair Trade products; and 

•	 all timber purchased was derived from recycled or legal and sustainable 


sources. 

Business assurance 
The Business Assurance Unit (BAU), set up in December 2010, was a well 
established function to provide independent assurance to the Chief Executive that 
the business was fit for purpose in that business management controls (including 
health and safety, information management, quality systems and processes and 
governance activity) operated in accordance with legal, regulatory and best practice 
standards. BAU managed the issue of two licences regarding the College intellectual 
property during the year, which was the first time this level of licence had been 
issued. Establishing a Health and Safety Management system that can be 
certificated to OHSAS 18001:2007 was the key focus of activity during this financial 
year and, following an in-depth external audit by the certifying body in January 2013, 
the College achieved this objective. Further detail on BAU activity within the College 
can be found in Section 5 Governance Statement. 
Strategic Objectives 
Our performance and progress were based on the key strategic objectives agreed 
with DCLG and Ministers at the beginning of each financial year.  The following 
strategic objectives were identified for 2012-13: 
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Strategic Objective Achievement 

To support the Department for 
Communities and Local Government in 
its objective to achieve a successful sale 
of the College and one that meets the 
Government’s objective to: 
- Secure the College’s future as a 

provider of fire and rescue and wider 
emergency services operational 
training and as a venue for large multi-
agency exercises. 

Achieved: Date of sale to Capita was 28 
February 2013. This ensures future of 
the College as a provider of fire and 
associated training. 

- Achieve overall value for money for 
the Department for Communities and 
Local Government, the UK Fire & 
Rescue Service and the taxpayer, 
including transaction receipts 

- Secure continuing access to the 
National Resilience strategic assets. 

NB Above issued by DCLG July 2012. 

Achieved:  DCLG view is that the sale 
provides value for money. 

Achieved 

Financial objectives 
The HM Treasury Minute under which we operated as a Trading Fund set two further 
specific financial targets: 

Financial Objective Achievement 

To manage the funded operations so 
that the revenue of the fund: 

– consists principally of receipts in 
respect of goods or services 
provided in the course of the funded 
operations; 

– is not less than sufficient, taking one 
year with another, to meet outgoings 
which are properly chargeable to the 
revenue account. 

Achieved: 89% (2011-12: 84%) of 
revenue related to training activities. 

Not achieved: A trading deficit before 
exceptional items and interest of £4.4 
million (2011-12: £2.2 million) has been 
reported for the year. 
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Financial Objective Achievement 

Achieve a return, averaged over the 
period as a whole, of a minimum of 4% 
in the form of a surplus on ordinary 
activities before interest (payable and 
receivable) and dividends expressed as 
a percentage of average capital 
employed. 

Not achieved: A negative return of 
12.6% on the average net assets 
employed was recorded in the year. 

Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
KPIs agreed with the DCLG and Ministers for the 2012-13 financial year were:  

KPI Achievement 

Achieve 80% in ‘Good’ and ‘Excellent’ 
scores only in customer satisfaction for 
overall learning experience. 

Achieved: An 88.68% rating has been 
achieved. 

To embed health and safety awareness 
throughout the organisation by reducing 
accidents by 10% and increasing near-
miss reporting by 15% compared to 
2011-12. 

Partially Achieved: The improved 
safety event policy, procedures and 
forms issued in November 2011 
continued to stimulate reporting of all 
safety events including near misses and 
minor accidents had an adverse but 
positive effect resulting in a 2% increase 
in accident reporting to 11% and an 
increase of 63% in near miss reporting 
over the year. Accidents decreased by 
7 to 105 overall. 
NB figures calculated up to and including 25 
February 2013. 

Short term staff sick absence, measured 
over the financial year, to be no more 
than four days per employee at the 
financial year end. 

Achieved: an average result of 3.18 
days per employee (2011-12: 4.1). 

Customer satisfaction 
The following table shows the number of participants in our customer satisfaction 
surveys together with the number and percentage of responses received: 
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Feedback Responses 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 

Number of Participants 7,928 5,931 5,188 

Number of Feedbacks 2,948 3,361 2,908 

Response Rate 37% 57% 56% 
FY12-13 figures correct up to and including 31 /01/13. 

The response figures above have been taken from FireLearn, our Managed Learning 
Environment. 
Delegate satisfaction overall 
The College used a five point scale to measure delegate satisfaction, with point 3 
being ‘Satisfactory’. Early in-year, the College’s management team concluded that 
true delegate satisfaction was being misinterpreted due to delegates opting for 
‘Satisfactory’ when their comments may indicate otherwise.   
To ameliorate this management opted, for the purposes of a continuous improvement 
challenge, to measure satisfaction based on ‘Good’ and ‘Excellent’ scores only. 
The delegate feedback on levels of satisfaction in key delivery areas set out in the 
table overleaf (using ‘Good’ and ‘Excellent’ scores only) indicate excellent progress.  
Ratings for the overall learning increased by 4 points on the previous year, whilst 
ratings for the overall learning experience (taking into account the whole 
environment) increased by 5 points ie satisfaction levels for facilities improved,  
despite the dilapidation of much of the estate.  From the 17 questions asked, 11 of 
the responses rated 90% or above, an improvement on last year where only 6 were 
rated 90% or above. Only 3 of the 17 did not show an improvement.  

Delegate Satisfaction Based On ‘Good’ And ‘Excellent’ Scores Only 

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 
% % % 

Aims and objectives were met 90 94 94 

Personal objectives were met 87 92 92 

Content was relevant to course objectives 90 94 95 

Content was relevant to your job 86 93 93 

Training methods used were appropriate 88 90 93 

The course was interesting and challenging 89 92 93 

The course was well paced 84 88 87 

You learned a lot from this course and will be able to 
apply what you have learned 87 92 93 

Exercise debriefs were effective and you received 
detailed and helpful feedback 80 78 85 
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Delegate Satisfaction Based On ‘Good’ And ‘Excellent’ Scores Only 

2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 
% % % 

The Incident Ground exercises were realistic and 
relevant 65 60 68 

Exercises contributed to effective learning 80 80 86 

Tutors were sufficiently knowledgeable 97 99 99 

Tutors had effective style and delivery 94 95 97 

Tutors were sensitive to the diverse needs of the group 95 95 97 

How do you rate your overall learning on the 
programme 90 94 94 

How do you rate your overall learning experience, taking 
into account service and facilities, accommodation, 
catering, and the learning environment 

84 89 89 

How do you rate the overall facilities at the FSC 76 84 64 
FY12-13 figures correct up to and including 31 /01/13 

Financial report 
Because of the sale of the College to new owners on 28 February 2013, the financial 
trading results are for the 11 month period to that date and not for a full 12 months.  
These accounts though cover the full 12 months of 2012-13 and include the non-
trading period to closure at 31 March 2013. 
The College trading result was a net deficit before interest of £4.4 million in 2012-13 
(£2.2 million deficit restated in 2011-12).  Taking account of the costs arising from the 
sale the overall loss for the year was £33.2 million (£2.6 million loss in 2011-12).  The 
results reflect exceptional costs arising from closure of £28.5 million.  The trading 
deficit for the period before costs arising on sale and interest represented a negative 
return of 12.6% (2011-12: negative return 5.1%) on the average net assets 
employed, less long term liabilities.  
Overall Taxpayers’ Equity declined from £37.7 million to £ nil in 2012-13.  The nil 
closing balance reflects the sale and subsequent closure of the Trading Fund and the 
loss on disposal or transfer of all remaining assets and liabilities to the Department.   
Total revenues for the 11 months to 28 February 2013 were £12.3 million compared 
to £16.9 million restated in 2011-12. Total public sector revenues, which represented 
66% of total revenue in 2012-13, declined by £3.0 million, due mainly to continued 
budget cuts in UK public spending. More encouragingly international government 
business, particularly from the middle east, held up well. 
Costs continued to be tightly controlled with administrative expenses at £9.9 million 
showing a £1.2 million reduction on 2011-12 partly due to the 2012-13 accounting 
period being 11 months because of the sale to Capita.   
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Accounting for the sale to Capita 
Whilst, looking to the future and in overall terms the sale of the College provided 
value for money for the Government, in accounting terms the sale crystallised losses 
because of the need to reduce net asset values to nil as disposals.  These asset 
disposals appear as a loss of value arising from the sale.  The loss is disclosed in 
Note 3 within exceptional items.  To an extent the size of the asset loss reflects the 
valuation method required for the College property, which because of its specialised 
nature was valued at depreciated replacement cost rather than market value.  
Furthermore the available cash in the Trading Fund was insufficient to allow the 
College to repay the Public Dividend Capital (PDC) or repay fully the loans from the 
Department. The amounts of PDC and loans waived by the Department were £16.7 
million and £1.0 million respectively.  
In practice this means losses from the sale and transfers out are recognised in the 
Trading Fund accounts with the resulting gains from the sale and transfers in 
recorded in the accounts of the Department.  These gains include the sale receipt 
and the value of the dwellings transferred from the College.   
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
As described elsewhere the sale was accounted for in the accounts of the 
Department and therefore, as shown in Note 7, the College’s property, plant and 
equipment was disposed of as at 28 February 2013 to zero value.  This disposal 
included the FEU building and land immediately on transfer in from the Department 
(see below). Overall this resulted in an accounting loss of £28.5 million included 
within exceptional costs (see Note 3) and increased the deficit for the year reported in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Note that these assets were included in 
the sale to Capita and continued in use. 
DCLG owned a building and land on the College site.  These assets, known as the 
Fire Experimental Unit (FEU) building and land, were included in the sale to Capita 
and transferred from DCLG to the FSC TF on 28 February 2013.  This transfer used 
absorption accounting principles which allow transfers of assets between government 
bodies without cash movements and with no effects on budgets.  The values of the 
assets were as follows: 

building land total 
at date of transfer: £'000 £'000 £'000 
Gross value of FEU building 1,220 400 1,620 
accumulated depreciation (348) - (348) 
Carrying value 872 400 1,272 

Revaluation reserve (864) (57) (921) 

The asset values were debited to Property, plant and equipment (see Note 7) with 
the receipt of a capital grant in kind to the same value recorded in reserves to 
establish the revaluation reserve or in retained earnings (see the Statement of 
Taxpayers’ Equity). 
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Property, plant and equipment (PPE) assets classified as dwellings in the College’s 
accounts were not included in the sale to Capita but were transferred to DCLG using 
absorption accounting principles. The values of these assets were as follows: 

buildings 
at date of transfer: £'000 
Gross value of dwellings 5,790 
accumulated depreciation -
Carrying value (transferred to DCLG as grant in kind) 5,790 

Revaluation reserve (5,352) 

The College’s intangible assets were not considered to have value in the sale and so 
written down to zero as at 28 February 2013.  This resulted in a charge to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income of £0.1 million. 
Heritage assets 
The Fire Service College has, over its history, become the holder of a number of 
assets (including the Memorial Chapel and Heritage Centre and a large number of 
artefacts, mementoes, works of art and gifts).  As part of the sale of the College, 
provision has been made for the safeguarding of these assets for the future. 
Ownership of the buildings (Chapel and Heritage Centre) transferred to the buyer on 
completion of the sale. The non-building assets (which are considered to be Heritage 
Assets) were legally transferred to The Fire-Fighters’ Memorial Trust on 28 February 
2013 for nil consideration. The Trust is a charity formed to commemorate fire-fighters 
killed in the line of duty. 
To date these assets have not been recognised in the Fire Service College’s 
Statement of Financial Position and nor has reference been made to them in its 
Annual Report and Accounts. Information on their cost is not available and cannot be 
obtained at a cost which is commensurate with the benefits to users of these financial 
statements. As a result, the assets have not been recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position and the disclosures required by the FReM have not been made. 
Public Dividend Capital 
The College held £16.7 million of funding from the Department which was deemed to 
be treated as Public Dividend Capital (PDC) (See Note 16).  At closure the 
Department agreed to waive the full balance of PDC (see the details in the Statement 
of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year ended 31 March 2013).   
Prior year adjustment for the accounting of government grants received 
During the year, it was realised that the College had not updated its accounting policy 
relating to changes in the treatment of government grants introduced across 
government for the 2011-12 financial year.  As a result, prior period adjustments have 
been made to account for this in the two years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 
2012 as required by IAS 8. This is included in the individual reserve balances in the 
Statement of Taxpayers’ Equity and the Statement of Financial Position.  The impact 
of this is that the opening balance on the government grant reserve at 1 April 2011 
has been reduced to zero, with the previously reported balance transferred to the 
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revaluation reserve and retained earnings to reflect transactions in earlier years.  In 
year movements during 2011-12 have been restated as follows: 

-	 government grants received – £432k – has been restated as income 
-	 the release from the government grant reserve – £559k – previously shown 

as income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, has been reversed 
-	 the in-year revaluation of assets purchased with grant funding has been 

moved from the government grant reserve to the revaluation reserve – 
£1,165k; and 

-	 realised depreciation has been moved from the government grant reserve 
to the revaluation reserve – £95k. 

These restatements are shown in the Statement of Taxpayers’ Equity, Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Note 3 as appropriate and are summarised in the table 
below. 

At 31 March 2011 

as reported 
in 2011-12 
accounts 
Gov grant 
reserve 
£'000 

(14,642) 

Gov grant 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

SoCI Revaluation 
reserve 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
14,642 (15,261) - 619 

Changes reported in 2012-13 accounts 

Gov grant rec'd 
Gov grant amortisation 
Revaluation surplus 
Realised depreciation 

(432) 
559 

(1,165) 
95 

432 
(559) 

1,165 
(95) 

-
-
-
-

(432) 
559 

-
-

-
-

(1,165) 
95 

At 31 March 2012 (15,585) 15,585 (15,261) 127 (451) 
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Summary of 5 year results 

Year ending 

note 
below 

31 March 
2013 

(11 months) 
£'000 

31 March 
2012 

£'000 

31 March 
2011 

£'000 

31 March 
2010 

£'000 

31 March 
2009 

£'000 

Total Revenue 
Operating Costs: 
Staff Costs 
Depreciation and other asset costs 
Other Costs including net finance costs 

1 
2 

12,265 

7,757 
2,406 
5,630 

16,879

9,049 
2,251 
8,019 

 18,471 

10,724 
3,010 
8,729 

21,727 

11,168
3,759 
8,830 

21,579 

 11,123 
2,753 
9,918 

Total Operating Costs 15,793 19,319 22,463 23,757 23,794 

Net deficit for the year (3,528) (2,440) (3,992) (2,030) (2,215) 

Costs on closure and restructuring (29,363) - - - (12,264) 
Deficit for the year after exceptional 
expenditure (32,891) (2,440) (3,992) (2,030) (14,479) 

Costs as a percentage of revenue: 
Staff Costs 

Other Costs 
Total 

Depreciation and other asset costs 2 
63% 
20% 
48% 

131% 

54% 
13% 
47% 

114% 

58% 
17% 
47% 

122% 

51% 
17% 
41% 

109% 

52% 
13% 
46% 

111% 

Property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets - 37,354 33,266 37,367 40,713 

Investment in property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 615 1,361 787 1,048 1,084 

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (2,781) 578 914 178 (1,032) 

Staff Numbers (units not in thousands) 1, 3 189 197 219 237 244 

Average Staff Cost 41 46 49 47 46 

Notes: 
1. In years to 31 March 2011 staff working on product development, which were capitalised 
as intangible assets, were excluded from the costs and staff numbers above.  No product 
development was capitalised in the years 2011-12 and 2012-13.   

2. Depreciation and other asset costs include depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 
amortisation of intangible assets, surpluses and losses on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets, and surpluses and losses on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment, unless shown as an Exceptional item. 

3. Staff numbers represent average Full-Time Equivalents (FTE) employed during the year. 

Financial and accounting arrangements 
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government was the authorised 
lender to the Trading Fund.  The Fire Service College Trading Fund Order 1992 
imposed a limit of £15 million (excluding the originating loan) on the sums that may 
be issued to the Fund by way of a loan. At the start of the year there was a total of 
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£4.5 million of government loans outstanding.  At 31 March 2013 all cash held by the 
College, not earmarked for specific liabilities, was used to repay government loans 
leaving just under £1 million unpaid.  This has been waived by the Department. 
The financial objectives of the College were detailed in a Treasury Minute dated 12 
October 2009. 
Auditor details 
The Trading Fund was audited by the Comptroller and Auditor General who is 
appointed by statute and reports to Parliament.  The scope of the audit is set out in 
the Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of 
Parliament, published as part of this Annual Report.  
The audit fee for the statutory audit undertaken by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General for the 2012-13 financial year was £89,000 (2011-12: £88,000), as advised 
by the NAO and charged to the College. (Note that the 2011-12 fee differs from the 
amount recorded in Note 3 because a late additional charge for 2011-12 has been 
accounted for in 2012-13.) No additional services were provided to the College by 
the Auditor. 
Audit information 
The Accounting Officer of the College, at the date of approval of this Report, confirms 
that: 

•	 so far as the Accounting Officer is aware there is no relevant audit information 
of which the auditor is unaware; and 

•	 the Accounting Officer has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken in 
order to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 
that the auditor is aware of that information. 

Payments to suppliers 
Prior to the sale, as a trading fund, the College observed the principles of the Better 
Payment Practice Code on prompt payments. Its policy was to pay all bills not in 
dispute within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice or within the agreed contractual 
terms if otherwise specified. The Interim Finance and Commercial Director 
monitored bill paying performance and advised the Chief Executive.  In 2012-13: 
89.4% (2011-12: 92.0%) of invoices were paid within 30 days of receipt.  Following 
the sale, such responsibilities rest with the new owner. 
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Remuneration Report 
Remuneration policy 
Senior Civil Service 
The remuneration of senior civil servants is set by the Prime Minister following 
independent advice from the Review Body on Senior Salaries.  In reaching its 
recommendations, the Review Body has regard to the following considerations: 

•	 the need to recruit, retain and motivate suitably able and qualified people to 
exercise their different responsibilities; 

•	 regional/local variations in labour markets and their effects on the recruitment 
and retention of staff; 

•	 Government policies for improving the public services including the 
requirement on departments to meet the output targets for the delivery of 
departmental services; 

•	 the funds available to departments as set out in the Government’s 

departmental expenditure limits; and 


•	 Government’s inflation target. 
The Review Body takes account of the evidence it receives about wider economic 
considerations and the affordability of its recommendations.   
Further information about the work of the Review Body can be found at 
www.ome.uk.com. 
Other College Staff – Civil Servants 
The remuneration of other Civil Service grades employed by the Fire Service College 
was set, under delegated authority from the DCLG, by College management, in line 
with guidance issued by Treasury. 
FRS Seconded Officers 
The College also made significant use of seconded Fire Service Officers to maintain 
high standards of instruction which must be relevant and current.  Remuneration 
rates for these secondees were set through nationally negotiated FRS settlements. 
Contracts – Civil Servants 
Civil Service appointments, both for senior civil servants and more junior grades, 
were made in accordance with the Civil Service Commissioners’ Recruitment 
Principles, which requires appointments to be made on merit on the basis of fair and 
open competition, but also includes exceptions where it is appropriate to do so. 
The Civil Servants covered by this Report held appointments which were either open-
ended until they reach the normal retiring age of 60 or 65 (dependent on the pension 
scheme to which they are a member) or fixed term.  Early termination, other than for 
misconduct, would result in the individual receiving compensation as set out in the 
Civil Service Compensation Scheme. 
Further information about the work of the Civil Service Commissioners can be found 
at the website: www.civilservicecommissioners.gov.uk. 
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Terms of secondment – FRS Secondees 
Seconded Officers operated under individual agreements, normally of two years 
duration but with the scope for extension and were on loan from the employing FRA.  
These arrangements set out any variances to substantive terms and conditions which 
were deemed necessary to facilitate College operations. 
Non-Executive Officers 
Non-Executive Officers were appointed through DCLG by fair and open competition 
and were paid fees for their term of office plus appropriate business expenses. 
Salary and pension entitlements  
The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of 
the College Management Board and have been subjected to audit. 
Note all figures for 2012-13 are for 11 months to 28 February 2013, 2011-12 are for 
the year ended 31 March 2012. No compensation was due or paid for loss of office. 

2012-13 2012-13 2012-13 2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 
Remuneration Salary Bonuses Total Salary Bonuses Total 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Executive Officers 
Mr K Robinson 100 – 105 - 100 – 105 110 – 115 - 110 – 115 
Mr I Stroud 60 – 65 - 60 – 65 60 – 65 - 60 – 65 
Mr A Kettle 80 – 85 - 80 – 85 60 – 65 - 60 – 65 

Non-Executive 
Officers Fees Bonuses Total Fees Bonuses Total 

Mr W Griffiths 5 – 10 - 5 – 10 20 – 25 - 20 – 25 
Mr R J Evans 20 – 25 - 20 – 25 15 – 20 - 15 – 20 
Mr M Bryant 20 – 25 - 20 – 25 15 – 20 - 15 – 20 

Mr Vogel’s services as Interim Finance and Commercial Director were procured by 
the College through Opus One Consultancy Limited, of which Mr Vogel is a major 
shareholder. For 2012-13, expenditure of £141,081 (2011-12: £118,000),  including 
a contractual completion fee of £11,380 for 2011-12 and £21,812 for 2012-13, plus 
VAT, was incurred in respect of his services 
Mr Copley’s services as Interim Business Development Director, until he resigned in 
January 2013, were procured by the College through Linden Lea International 
Limited, of which Mr Copley is a major shareholder.  For 2012-13, expenditure of 
£131,292 (2011-12: £105,000) including a contractual notice fee of £36,792 plus VAT 
was incurred in respect of his services. 
The expenditure with Opus One Consultancy Limited and Linden Lea International 
Limited are reported as related party transactions in Note 25 to the Accounts. 
Salary 
Remuneration consists of ‘salary’ which includes gross salary and any allowances to 
the extent that they were subject to UK taxation. 
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Bonuses 
No executive officer bonuses were paid in 2012–13 (2011-12 – £nil). 
Benefits in Kind 
Mr Vogel, Mr Copley and Mr Kettle received on-site accommodation as a benefit in 
kind during 2012-13, which had a value to each of them of £6,336 (2011-12:  
£6,336). Mr Kettle also received home travel expenses totalling £2,563 (2011-12:  
£2,501). No other benefits in kind were received by members of the Management 
Board. 
Pay Multiples 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the Fire Service College in 
the financial year 2012-13 was £100,000-£105,000. This was 4.5 times the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £24,776 (2011-12:  £110,000 - £115,000; 
4.6; £24,646). 
Total remuneration included salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind as well as severance payments. It did not include employer pension 
contributions. 
Civil Service Pensions 
Pension benefits are provided through the Civil Service pension arrangements.  Full 
details of this can be found in Note 4.1 of the Financial Report: Notes to the 
Accounts. 
Fire and Rescue Service Pensions 
Pensions are provided through the Firefighters’ Pension Schemes.  Full details of 
these can be found in Note 4.1 of the Financial Report: Notes to the Accounts.  
Pension costs for Mr Kettle during his secondment are re-charged to the College by 
his employers.  
Pension Benefits 
The following Directors only are entitled to benefits under the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme: 

Accrued 
pension at 
Age 60/65* 

as at 
28 Feb 13 

and related 
lump sum 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
and related 
lump sum 

at Age 
60/65* 

CETV at 
28 Feb 13 

CETV at 
31 Mar 12 

Real 
increase 
in CETV 
funded 

by 
employer 

Employee 
contributions 

and 
transfers in 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
Mr K Robinson 5 – 10 2 – 2.5 124 89 22 6 
Mr I Stroud 25 – 30 2.5 – 3 492 426 41 4 

* Age 65 for Mr Robinson; Age 60 for Mr Stroud. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV) 
The figures in the table above reflect the increase in CETV effectively funded by the 
employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred 
from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation 
factors for the start and end of the period. 

NEIL O’CONNOR 
Accounting Officer – The Fire Service College 
Director for Fire, Resilience and Emergencies 

Department of Communities and Local Government 
29 November 2013 
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4 Statement of Accounting Officer’s 
Responsibilities  

Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities  
Under Section 4(6) of the Government Trading Funds Act 1973 HM Treasury directed 
the Fire Service College to prepare a statement of accounts for each financial year in 
the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction applicable to all Trading 
Funds issued by HM Treasury.  The accounts were prepared on an accruals basis 
and were required to give a true and fair view of the College's financial position at the 
year end and of its revenue and expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash 
flows for the financial year. 
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer was required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• 	 observe the Accounts Direction issued by HM Treasury, including the relevant  
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting 
policies on a consistent basis; 

•	 make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 
•	 state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 

Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and to disclose and explain 
any material departures in the financial statements; and 

•	 prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is 

inappropriate to do so. 


The accounts for 2012-13 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adapted 
or interpreted for the public sector context by HM Treasury.  
The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government appointed the Chief 
Executive for the College in accordance with the Framework Document. 
The Treasury subsequently appointed the Chief Executive as the Accounting Officer 
for the College. His relevant responsibilities as Trading Fund Accounting Officer, 
included the responsibilities for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for 
which he was answerable, for the keeping of proper records and for safeguarding the 
College’s assets, are set out in Managing Public Money issued by HM Treasury. The 
Chief Executive left the Fire Service College on 28 February 2012 and from that date 
the DCLG Director of Fire and Resilience was appointed Accounting Officer for the 
Trading Fund. 
The responsibilities for the operation of the Trading Fund were contained in the 
Framework Document and in the Guide to the Establishment and Operation of 
Trading Funds published by HM Treasury in May 2004 (updated August 2006).  
Chapter 13 of the latter document deals specifically with accountability. 
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Governance Statement 
Introduction 
With the sale of the Fire Service College to Capita on 28 February 2013, Kim 
Robinson relinquished his responsibilities as Accounting Officer on 27 February 
2013. I was appointed as Accounting Officer for the Trading Fund in succession to 
Kim with responsibility for the preparation of the Fire Service College Trading Fund 
Accounts for 2012-13 in accordance with section 4(6) (a) of the Government Trading 
Funds Act 1973. As Accounting Officer, I must be able to assure Parliament and the 
public of high standards of probity in the management of public funds, including the 
Fire Service College Governance Statement.   
The Annual Report and Accounts for 2012-13 as presented here have been 
produced under the guidance and oversight of the members of the Audit and Risk 
Committee. 
Governance in the period after 28 February 2013 
All the College’s rights and obligations transferred to DCLG on 28 February 2013. 
The conclusion of the College’s remaining business as a Trading Fund, after this 
date, was handled by DCLG and was subject to DCLG’s governance framework and 
systems of internal control.   
A key risk in this period concerned the satisfactory completion of the College’s 
Annual Report and Accounts. Risks of inaccuracies or of delay were identified and a 
number of mitigations put in place: 

•	 the completion of the sale and/or transfer of the remaining College’s assets, 
liabilities and activities to DCLG during March 2013, including the transfer of 
funds to enable the closure of the College’s bank account on 28 March 2013; 

•	 the production, audit and approval of a draft Report and Accounts for the 
period, for handover to DCLG, with the supporting documents and accounting 
records; and 

•	 the close partnership working between staff at DCLG and the member of 
DCLG staff sited at the College to achieve an effective handover, including 
attendance by DCLG staff at Audit and Risk Management Committee 
meetings. 

The final adjustments to the College’s accounts were made by staff in DCLG.  The 
College Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) met on 26 March, 26 April, 20 June and 1 
July 2013 to review and recommend the approval of the final Report and Accounts.  
The members of the College’s ARC, and their attendance at those meetings, are as 
follows: 

Audit and Risk Committee 
members Meeting date and attendance 

26/03/2013 26/04/2013 20/06/2013 01/07/2013 
Bob Evans (chair) Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Martin Bryant Yes Yes Yes Yes 
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The governance structures in DCLG are set out in more detail in the DCLG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2012-13. 
The Fire Service College Trading Fund (Revocation) Order 2013 revoked the Fire 
Service College Trading Fund Order 1992 (“the 1992 Order”) and came into effect on 
1 April 2013. As a result, the Trading Fund established by the 1992 Order ceased to 
exist. The Order received policy approval by Ministers with concurrent approval from 
HM Treasury. 
Governance in the period 1 April 2012 to 28 February 2013 
Kim Robinson has, by means of the following statement, confirmed that the College 
operated, up until the handover of his Accounting Officer’s duties to me on 27 
February 2013, with appropriate governance and an improved system of internal 
control and risk management during FY12-13. 
Summary 
The Financial Year (FY) 2012-13 continued with well-established governance 
mechanisms and a 3 year business plan. The Plan reflected the overarching key 
objective of the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) to sell 
the College to the private sector.  The drive to improve the operations and financial 
performance of the College continued and many significant improvements were 
made. However, trading conditions were extremely challenging within the context of 
the weak economic climate and revenues continued to be impacted severely by 
public sector cuts and the restrictions placed on the College in recruiting key staff.  
Despite the significant revenue pressures, management maintained a strong focus 
on cost reduction. I am also pleased to report that the College has recently passed 
OHSAS 18001 accreditation for the management of health and safety. 
The Audit Committee (AC) meeting on 27 February 2013 noted that very good 
progress had been made against internal audit recommendations.  Management had 
instructed the Internal Auditors to review a number of functions during 2012-13, the 
reports of which had been submitted to the College. It was noted that there were 
fewer issues raised than in previous audits and no major weaknesses were identified. 
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) launched the sale 
of the College as a going concern on 10 April 2012. Capita was announced by DCLG 
as the preferred bidder on 13 December 2012 and completion of the sale took place 
on 28 February 2013. In his letter to the former Accounting Officer dated 12 
December 2012, Sir Bob Kerslake noted that the former Accounting Officer had 
rightly been excluded from the evaluation of bids for the College and that 
responsibility for ensuring that public value for money was achieved in the sale of the 
College lay with the DCLG. Conflicts of interest were avoided by ensuring that the 
former Accounting Officer and executive members of the College Management Board 
(CMB) were not involved in bid evaluation or any further legal and commercial 
aspects of the disposal. This was a conscious decision and appropriately monitored. 
After the preferred bidder was announced, Capita staff were given detailed and 
regular access to the College and its staff so that they could carry out their necessary 
detailed due diligence.  Large numbers of Capita staff were involved in this 
comprehensive exercise due to the short amount of time available to Capita for due 
diligence. During the final stages of Capita's due diligence, the College reinforced 
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the controls put in place to ensure that effective control of public assets continued to 
be maintained. 
The Governance Framework. 
The Framework Document directed and guided the work of the College and 
described its relationship with DCLG. It established the College’s status, overarching 
governance requirements and described its aims, objectives and functions.  The 
revised framework document was published in March 2011. 
I, as the former Accounting Officer, reported on the operational performance of the 
College and the effectiveness of its system of internal control to the DCLG led 
College Shareholder Board. The College Shareholder Board held its final meeting on 
6 February 2013 at which the College’s budget for 2013-14 was approved.  This 
Board was established in accordance with the Framework Document and met 
quarterly to support College business activity including: 

•	 approval of the College’s FSC Business Plan (including the strategic 
objectives of the business, the short and long term financial and performance 
targets and the capital investment programme);  

•	 consideration of the consequences for the College of policy changes affecting 
the provision of training and of any changes needed to the FSC Framework 
Document; 

•	 consideration of issues and risks raised by DCLG or the College which 
affected the work of the College, had implications for DCLG policy and which 
impacted, in particular, on any changes to the training offered; and  

•	 consideration of the College’s performance, based on a quarterly performance 
report from the Accounting Officer, monitored against the targets set in the 
Business Plan. Where a risk was identified, or a material change occured in 
the way the College carried out its tasks, or in long-term significant demands 
on resources, the Accounting Officer would bring it to the attention of the 
Shareholder Board for consideration.  Business re-forecasts were completed 
at the 5, 6, 8 and 9 month points and were used to re-prioritise activities.  

The CMB met monthly on a formal basis and maintained the principles of the 
Corporate Governance Code. Additional meetings were held throughout the year to 
review the various business re-forecasts and budget proposals.  The Board 
supported me as the former Accounting Officer in meeting performance against 
business objectives and key performance indicators and by providing scrutiny and 
guidance considering risk where appropriate. It noted that the quality of information 
presented improved significantly this FY, providing a much greater level of 
transparency in governance, risk and budgeting matters. This improvement in 
visibility and quality of data was reflected in a more detailed business plan and in the 
improved forecasting processes which included the four ‘in year’ re-forecasts referred 
to above, all of which were supported by detailed, sales pipelines.  Additionally, these 
improvements were captured in the comprehensive nature of the key sales 
document, the Information Memorandum, which was published in April 2012. 
A 95% average attendance rate for monthly CMB’s was achieved by the eight 
members. Two meetings were held in February in order to finalise governance 
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matters ahead of the sale. The Board considers that it has fulfilled its duties 
satisfactorily. 
The Board reviewed its performance at its final meeting and satisfied itself that it met 
the governance requirements set out in the Corporate Governance Code as far as 
they applied. During the past year the Board focused, in particular, on: 

•	 continuing the underlying  improvements in the general performance of the 
business, which was once more severely impacted by the difficult trading 
conditions affecting the FRS and other UK public sector customers; 

•	 the rapid sale of the College, carried out in addition to the daily running of the 
business and its continuous improvement;  

•	 setting the conditions for further business with a middle eastern government, 
including: 

o	 recovery of the existing aged debt; 
o	 establishing a binding legal contract covering the whole scope of 

training offered; and 
o	 establishing payment milestones including substantial pre-payments; 

•	 pursuit of a significant debtor and its final conclusion; and  
•	 monitoring of cashflow. 

I have also been supported by an Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), chaired by a 
Non-Executive Director and supported by a second Non-Executive Director and an 
Independent member. The members of the ARC during the year were Bob Evans 
(Chair), Martin Bryant and Terry Price and, as the Committee, they: 

•	 advised the former Accounting Officer on the handling of outstanding debts, 
including the significant debtor referred to above;  

•	 reviewed the data provided as part of the sales process with particular 
attention to ensuring that information provided to prospective  bidders was 
accurate and validated; and 

•	 oversaw preparation of the annual accounts for 2011-12 and the 

arrangements for 2012-13. 


The ARC supported me as the former Accounting Officer by ensuring that the 
Accounting Officer’s public accountability was supported by sound governance 
control and a robust process of risk management, which was a standing agenda item 
at each meeting. There were six ARC meetings held during the year and the three 
members achieved a 100% average attendance rate.  The ARC scrutinised and 
advised the former Accounting Officer on: 

•	 the system of internal control; 
•	 the strategic process for managing risk;  
•	 the accounting policies and the Annual Report & Accounts (including the 

process for review of the Accounts prior to submission for audit);  
•	 the planned activity and results of both internal and external audit; 
•	 the adequacy of management response to issues identified by audit activity;  
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•	 assurances relating to the corporate governance requirements for the 

organisation; 


•	 business continuity and incident control plans; and  
•	 anti-fraud policies, whistle-blowing processes, and arrangements for special 

investigations. 
The CMB consider that the opinion and scrutiny of the ARC contributed to the 
organisational control regime and to the level of assurance available to the Board 
and to me as the Accounting Officer. The final meeting of the ARC under current 
ownership was held on 27 February 2013. 
I led the College’s Management Team which supported me as the former Chief 
Executive by taking ownership of all matters relating to the day-to-day administration 
and operation of the College, its use of resources and performance in accordance 
with the latest agreed version of the College Business Plan/Reforecast.  The 
Management Team individually and collectively provided leadership of the College 
staff. This included:  

•	 managing resources and delivering the performance targets and corporate 
objectives set out in the latest agreed version of the Business Plan/Reforecast;  

•	 managing and taking steps to mitigate business risks;  
•	 reflecting, in their business activities, the College’s standards and values;  
•	 fostering and developing effective staff and customer relationships; and  
•	 managing and delivering the agreed operational programme.  

The Health, Safety and Welfare Action Group was responsible for the promotion of 
policies, processes and safe systems of work to effectively manage the health, safety 
and welfare of all persons on College premises when engaged in College related 
activities. It was chaired by me or the Head of Business Assurance on my behalf and 
met on a six weekly basis.  Membership included Directors, the Health and Safety 
Advisor and Trade Union representatives. 
The Capital Expenditure Programme Board was responsible for maintaining effective 
control over, and securing optimal benefit from, College capital expenditure. Chaired 
by the College Finance and Commercial Director, it scrutinised all significant capital 
expenditure proposals and monitored the progress of approved projects. Capital 
expenditure requirements were set out in the College’s business plan and agreed by 
DCLG. Progress has been monitored by the CMB and College Shareholder Board, 
where any additional in year spend requirements were approved. 
The Strategic Stakeholder Board provided strategic advice and influence to the 
Management Board aimed at improving operational delivery. It was chaired by the 
CFOA Director for Operational Response and comprised the Chief Executive, the 
Operations Director and Business Development and Marketing Director, the Chair of 
the FRS Occupational Committee, other key representatives from CFOA, CFRAU, 
LGA, the Devolved Administrations and DCLG.  Its role included endorsing the 
priorities and proposals for future product development, including guiding all activities 
undertaken by the FSC Product Board so that the customer’s quality assurance 
expectations were met and that common operating standards, resilience and 
interoperability were promoted across the Fire and Rescue Service. 
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Chaired by the College Operations’ Director, the Product Board ensured that College 
product development processes and activities were managed efficiently so that they 
underpinned the delivery of quality products to customers and enabled the 
development of future products to meet customers’ needs.  
The Business Assurance Unit (BAU), set up by me in 2010-11, established an 
additional assurance mechanism of in-house auditing to enforce compliance of 
College activity against College policy.  This ongoing programme of in-house audits 
is designed to improve business processes and management controls at all levels 
within the College. In this financial year, 18 in-house audits took place. The BAU 
reported directly to me. 
Major Assurance Activity 
DCLG wrote to the College’s Finance Director on 12 October 2012 confirming no 
further action should be taken in respect of the significant debtor following the report 
by PWC. The letter stated that: “...it is the Department’s view that no further action 
for the recovery of the £720k debt should be taken. With a recovery period of up to 
five years, at not insignificant cost, and with no guarantee of any recovery of the debt 
it is our view that this is not a course of action worth pursuing. You have instituted a 
number of changes in the way the College handles international business to prevent 
a recurrence of the problems experienced with this significant debtor and have taken 
a number of appropriate steps to seek recovery”.  The College’s Audit and Risk 
Committee on 23 October considered this recommendation and further advised the 
Accounting Officer that the matter should be closed and the outstanding debt has 
been written off in the annual accounts.  
HM Treasury undertook a review across government, regarding the contracting of 
individuals through personal service companies within government departments.  The 
College sought approval from DCLG to continue with four individuals it had procured 
via their personal service companies until the sale of the College was concluded.  
This approach was approved by DCLG in March 2012 with the Secretary of State 
noting that the arrangements concerning “the four individuals at the Fire Service 
College should not be unwound given the need to keep on track the disposal of the 
College by the end of September.”  He also noted that “these arrangements with 
Government will in any event lapse once the disposal is complete”.  The External 
Audit of the 2011-12 accounts sought clarification regarding the position of these 
individuals, which HM Treasury clarified and confirmed that: “if DCLG are satisfied 
that it would not be possible to bring these four posts on to payroll without additional 
cost then we are content with these arrangements to remain in place until the sale of 
the Fire Service College providing the sale happens along the timetable you have 
indicated.”  As stated, completion of the sale took place on 28 February 2013. 
During 2011-12, the College recognised that there was a potential issue regarding 
employment taxes and tasked internal auditors, PwC, to audit the situation.  PwC 
identified three high rated risks and a number of medium rated risks.   
Reviewing the outcomes of the PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) audit the College, 
through a third party (PwC), engaged with HMRC to reach a positive conclusion, 
which the College duly provided for.   
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Health and Safety management and improving the health and safety culture were top 
priorities for the Management Team. The College undertook a root and branch 
review of how health and safety was managed via policies, procedures and guidance 
within the College. The resulting “road-map” created a list of priorities that generated 
the focus for improvement activity within the year. Progress against the road map 
was reviewed at the Health and Safety and Welfare Action Group.  The achievement 
of the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) level 3 award in health 
and safety management in February 2012 was a significant milestone and formed the 
platform which enabled the College to achieve its objective of Occupational Health 
and Safety Assessment Series (OHSAS) 18001:2007 accreditation by 2013.  This 
was an enormous step forward. 
The dilapidated nature of the site due to under investment was a cause of concern 
from a health and safety and environmental point of view.  However, improvements 
were made to the site infrastructure including upgrades to the Liquid Petroleum Gas 
(LPG) training facilities, which resulted in very positive feedback from the Health and 
Safety Executive. The Crown Improvement Notice that the College received from the 
Health and Safety Executive in December 2010 was formally closed in August 2012. 
In line with Cabinet Office guidance, the College continued to review and reinforce its 
information security measures across the organisation with the Finance and 
Commercial Director submitting an annual return in his role as Senior Information 
Risk Owner. He was supported in this by the BAU. 
For the first time, annual reports from each of the BAU areas of responsibility, ie 
health and safety, quality assurance and information assurance, were presented to 
the CMB at the April 2012 meeting. This continued through reflection within the 
Annual Report and Accounts and consideration of BAU annual reports at the final 
CMB on 27 February 2013. 
An on-line Protecting Information series of courses (levels 1 – 3) was rolled out in 
January 2013 with completion by staff due by the end of March.  
During 2011-12, the BAU was tasked to coordinate management actions arising from 
recommendations from internal auditing activity carried out by PwC and in-house 
audits conducted by the BAU. This coordinating role continued in 2012-13.  This was 
a positive step forward in strengthening internal controls.   
Two licences were issued under the Information Fair Trading Status (IFTS), a good 
practice standard promoted by the Office of Public Service Information.  IFTS allowed 
the College to retain control of copyright and to maximise exploitation of its own 
Intellectual Property through Licensing and Franchising – the College’s status was 
previously suspended and reinstated in 2011-12.  
The risk management process was subject to periodic review and scrutiny by me, the 
CMB and AC. The process was centrally coordinated and monitored by the Head of 
BAU on my behalf who provided guidance and ensured that directors and staff were 
equipped to manage risk in an appropriate manner.  Management of business risks 
were identified, prioritised and mitigated where possible by the Management Team 
who met on a weekly basis. Consideration of the risks fed into the operational 
management processes. 
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Weaknesses and Issues 
The Management Team and I continued to seek business improvement across all 
aspects of the College operation. 
In-house auditing as detailed above highlighted opportunities to improve process and 
management controls and was monitored on a monthly basis. 
The disparate nature and age of College IT systems hampered the College’s ability to 
operate in an effective and streamlined manner.  These poor IT systems generated 
significant inefficiencies and poor working practices. 
There were nine minor information data breaches in the period of this report which 
were investigated by the information assurance team and appropriate action was 
taken. All nine cases are now closed. 
Internal Audit Opinion 
The following summary was extracted from the PwC Internal Audit Annual Report 
2012-13. 
“We have completed the programme of internal audit work for the year ended 31 
March 2013, although a number of reports remain in draft. Our work identified 1 high, 
14 medium and 14 low rated findings and reflects an on-going improvement in the 
control environment. Based on the work we have completed we believe that there is 
some risk that management's objectives may not be fully achieved. Improvements 
are required in those areas to enhance the adequacy and / or effectiveness of 
governance, risk management and internal control.  
The key factor that contributed to our opinion is as follows: 
Although we noted significant improvements in management of the overseas debts, 
with four of the five prior year recommendations now being closed, the one remaining 
open recommendation is rated as high risk. This recommendation is in relation to the 
level of debts that still remain outstanding specifically with a Middle Eastern 
Government. We acknowledge that this debt has been closely monitored by College 
management who believe it will be paid shortly.” 
Statement by the Chief Executive and Accounting Officer, Kim Robinson, made on 
his hand over of Accounting Officer duties on 28 February 2013. 
The members of the Management Team have given me their assurances that internal 
controls are effective within their areas of responsibility, including over the period of 
the sale, and that any relevant circumstances have been highlighted in this 
statement. Based on these assurances, on the operation of the control environment 
outlined above, recognising that there is further work to be done, and supported by 
the opinion of the CMB, AC and the Head of Internal Audit Services, I am content that 
the College has operated, up until the handover of my Accounting Officer’s duties to 
DCLG on 27 February 2013, with appropriate governance and an improved system of 
internal control and risk management during FY12-13.  As the College now moves 
into the private sector, I am pleased to look back at the significant improvements 
which have been made at the Fire Service College over the last 3-4 years, which 
have secured its future and will, I trust, enable it to achieve its full potential. 
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Neil O’Connor 
Accounting Officer – The Fire Service College 
Director for Fire, Resilience and Emergencies 

Department of Communities and Local Government 
29 November 2013 
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6 Certificate and Report of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General 

The Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the 
Houses of Parliament 
I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Fire Service College for the 
year ended 31 March 2013 under the Government Trading Funds Act 1973. The 
financial statements comprise: Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of 
Financial Position, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Changes in Equity; and 
the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the 
accounting policies set out within them. I have also audited the information in the 
Remuneration Report that is described in that report as having been audited. 
Respective responsibilities of the Accounting Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accounting Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  My responsibility is to audit, 
certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Government 
Trading Funds Act 1973. I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to 
comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the Fire Service College’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the Accounting Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to 
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If I become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my certificate. 
I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to 
the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the 
financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them. 
Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the 
financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 
Opinion on financial statements 
In my opinion: 

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Fire 

Service College’s affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of its net deficit after 

interest for the year then ended; and 
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6 Certificate and Report of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General 

•	 the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Government Trading Funds Act 1973 and HM Treasury directions issued 
thereunder. 

Emphasis of Matter – Going Concern 
I draw attention to Note 1b to the financial statements.  The Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government sold the trading assets and liabilities of the 
College to Capita in February 2013 as part of the sale of the business.  The College’s 
Trading Fund status was revoked by Parliament with effect from 31 March 2013.  As 
a consequence of this, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other 
than going concern. Details of the movements of the College’s assets and liabilities 
are shown in Note 23 to the financial statements.  My opinion is not qualified in this 
respect. 
Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion: 

•	 the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly 

prepared in accordance with HM Treasury directions made under the 

Government Trading Funds Act 1973; and 


•	 the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which I report by exception 
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in 
my opinion: 

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my 
audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or 

•	 the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited 
are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

•	 I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my 
audit; or 

•	 the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury’s 
guidance. 

Report 
I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 

Amyas C E Morse       5 December 2013 
Comptroller and Auditor General 

National Audit Office 
157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 
London 
SW1W 9SP 
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7 Financial Report: Financial Statements 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 March 
2013 

31 March 31 March 
Note 2013 2012 

restated 
£'000 £'000 

Revenue 2.1 12,265 16,879 
Cost of sales 2.2 (6,740) (7,977) 

Gross surplus 5,525 8,902 

Administrative expenses 2.2 (9,889) (11,115) 

Trading deficit for the year (4,364) (2,213) 

Costs on closure 3 (28,527) -
Net deficit for the year 3 (32,891) (2,213) 

Interest receivable 5 4 23 
Interest payable 6  (344)  (377) 

Net deficit for the year after interest (33,231) (2,567) 

Other comprehensive income and expenditure 

Net cost arising from transfer of property, plant & equipment to/from 
(87) -DCLG 

Income resulting from the waiver of the balance on Public Dividend 
Capital after the sale of the College by the Department of Communities 16,721 -
and Local Government 

16,634 -

Total comprehensive (expenditure)/income for the year (16,597) (2,567) 

All operations are classed as discontinuing because the College’s operations, assets and 
liabilities were wound up and transferred to DCLG for sale to Capita or retention by DCLG as 
appropriate. 

All trading revenues and costs for the year ended 31 March 2013 for the Fire Service College 
Trading Fund are for 11 months to 28 February 2013, the date the business operations 
ceased (2011-12;  12 months). 

Detail of the prior year adjustment and restatement of 2011-12 figures arising from the 
accounting for government grants is included in Note 22. 

The Notes on pages 40 to 65 form part of these Financial Statements. 
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7 Financial Report: Financial Statements 


Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2013 

Non-current assets 
Note 

2013 

£'000 

2012 
Restated 

£'000 

Years ending 31 March 
2011 

Restated 
£'000 

Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 
Total non-current assets 

7 
8 

-
-
-

37,100 
254 

37,354 

32,772 
494 

33,266 

Current assets 
Inventories 
Trade and other receivables 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Assets held for sale 
Total current assets 

9 
10 
11 
12 

-
-
-
-
-

38 
3,768 
2,781 
3,288 

9,875 

51 
8,993 
2,203 
6,575 

17,822 

Total Assets - 47,229 51,088 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 
Loans 
Provisions 
Total current liabilities 

13 
14.1 
15 

-
-
-
-

4,314 
67 

614 
4,995 

10,170 
63 

1,128 
11,361 

Non-current liabilities 
Long-term Government loans 
Long-term Other loans 
Total non-current liabilities 

14.2 
14.3 

-
-
-

4,448 
37 

4,485 

4,491 
61 

4,552 

Total Liabilities - 9,480 15,913 

NET ASSETS - 37,749 35,175 

Taxpayers' Equity 
Public Dividend capital 
Revaluation Reserve 
Accumulated Earnings 

16 -
-
-

16,721 
16,272 
4,756 

16,721 
15,483 

2,971 

TOTAL TAXPAYERS' EQUITY - 37,749 35,175 

The Notes on pages 40 to 65 form part of these Financial Statements. 

Detail of the prior year adjustment and restatement of 2011-12 figures arising from the 
accounting for government grants is included in Note 22. 

NEIL O’CONNOR 
Accounting Officer 
29 November 2013 

- 37 -




 

 

 

 
  

 

 

  
    

    

    

 

 

 

  

    

    

 

 

7 Financial Report: Financial Statements 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 31 March 2013 

Note 
31 March 

2013 

£'000

31 March 
2012 

 restated 
£'000 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 17 (1,565) (1,507) 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 
Proceeds of sale of property, plant and equipment 
Proceeds from disposal of land assets held for sale 

(615) 
5 

3,288 

(1,361) 
221 

3,288 

Net cash inflow from investing activities 2,678 2,148 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Repayment of short and long term loans 
Non-cash adjustments arising from closure 

18 (3,585) 
(309) 

(63) 
-

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities (3,894) (63) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11 (2,781) 578 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 11 2,781 2,203 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 11 - 2,781 

Detail of the prior year adjustment and restatement of 2011-12 figures arising from the 
accounting for government grants is included in Note 22. 

The Notes on pages 40 to 65 form part of these Financial Statements. 
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers’ Equity for the year ended 31 
March 2013 

Public 
Dividend 
Capital 

Revaluation 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings/ 
(Accumu-

lated  Deficit) 

Govern-
ment 
Grant 

Reserve 

Total 
Taxpayers' 

Equity 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 31 March 2011 as reported 
Prior year adjustment on Government Grants 

16,721
-
 16,102 

(619) 
(12,290) 
15,261 

14,642 
(14,642) 

35,175 
-

Balance at 31 March 2011 as adjusted 16,721 15,483 2,971 - 35,175 

Changes in Taxpayers' Equity 2011-12 
Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure 
Net deficit for the year after interest and exceptional 
item 
Other comprehensive income and expenditure 
Net surplus on revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment 
Transfers between reserves 
Realised depreciation 
Realised revaluation surplus on disposal of 
property,plant & equipment 
Other realised revaluation surplus 
Transfer realised land sale revaluation surplus 

-

-

-

-

-
-

-

5,141

(633) 

(118) 

(314) 
(3,287) 

(2,567)  

-

633 

118

314 
3,287 

-

-

-

-

-
-

(2,567)  

5,141 

-

-

-
-

Total changes in Taxpayers' Equity - 789 1,785 - 2,574 

Balance at 31 March 2012 16,721 16,272 4,756 - 37,749 

Changes in Taxpayers' Equity 2012-13 
Revaluation reserve transferred in with asset 
Revaluation reserve transferred out with asset 
Capital repayment 
Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure 
Net deficit for the year after interest and exceptional 
item 

-
-
-

-

921
(5,352) 

-

-

-
-
-

(33,231) 

-
-
-

-

921  
(5,352) 

-

(33,231) 

Other comprehensive income and expenditure 
Grant in kind from transfer of property 
Waiver of Public Dividend Capital 
Transfers between reserves 
Realised depreciation 
Other realised revaluation surplus 
Transfer realised land sale revaluation surplus 

-
(16,721) 

-
-
-

-
-

(103) 
(8,451) 
(3,287) 

(87) 
16,721 

103
8,451 
3,287 

-
-

-
-
-

-
(87) 

-

-
-
-

(16,721) (16,272) (4,756) - (37,749) 

Balance at 31 March 2013 - - - - -

The Notes on pages 40 to 65 form part of these Financial Statements. 

Detail of the prior year adjustment and restatement of 2011-12 figures arising from the 
accounting for government grants is included in Note 22. 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

Note 1. Accounting policies 
These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2012-13 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury.  The accounting 
policies contained in the FReM apply IFRS as adapted or interpreted for the public sector 
context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which 
was judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the College for the 
purpose of giving a true and fair view was selected.  The particular policies adopted by the 
College are described below.  They have been applied consistently in dealing with items that 
are considered material to the accounts. 

The Financial Statements are presented in Sterling rounded to the nearest thousand. 

a. Accounting convention 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment. 

b. Going concern 
The Financial Statements have not been prepared on a going concern basis. 

In April 2012, the Government launched the sale of the College. The business, 
trading assets and liabilities of the College were sold by the Department to Capita plc 
on 28 February 2013. The remaining College assets and liabilities were transferred 
to DCLG, including the bank balance, before closure on 31 March 2013.   

The Executive Agency that is the College was abolished as DCLG arranged the 
processes necessary to revoke Trading Fund status, including the passage of 
legislation with effect from and on 31 March 2013. 

Having considered the circumstances described above, management have concluded 
that, following the process of sale and the passing of legislation necessary to close 
the Trading Fund, it was not appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts.  The net book values of all assets and 
liabilities have been reduced to nil as a result of the sale or closure and there are no 
asset or liability balances shown in the Statement of Financial Position. 

c. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty  
In the application of the College’s accounting policies, management was required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that were not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and 
associated assumptions were based on historical experience and other factors that 
were considered to be relevant.  The estimates and underlying assumptions were 
continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates were recognised in the 
period in which the estimate was revised if the revision affected only that period or in 
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affected both current and 
future periods. 

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies: the following were the critical 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations that management made in the 
process of applying the College’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements: 
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•	 valuation of property, plant and equipment (See Note 1d below and Note 7); 
and 

• recognition criteria for intangible assets (See Note 1e below and Note 8). 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty: the following were the key assumptions 
concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty, at the 
Statement of Financial Position date, that had a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities: 

•	 useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment for depreciation 
calculations (See Note 1d below and Note 7); 

•	 useful lives of intangible assets and amortisation (See Note 1e below and 
Note 8); 

•	 provisions for doubtful receivables (See Note 10); and 
•	 liability provisions (See Note 15). 

d. Property, plant and equipment 
Land was valued on the basis of purchasing a notional replacement site in the same 
locality, equally suitable for the existing use.  Staff houses were re-valued at open 
market value.  All other freehold buildings, site infrastructure and incident ground 
facilities were valued at the depreciated replacement cost of their major component 
parts. 

Assets valued on the basis of depreciated replacement cost were professionally 
valued every five years, with interim valuations in year three if there was reason to 
believe that the replacement cost of an asset would have changed substantially.  
Indexation adjustments are normally applied in the intervening years, but were not 
been applied in 2012-13 (see below). 

Increases in value arising from revaluation were credited to the revaluation reserve 
except when the increase reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset which 
was previously recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, in which case 
it was credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to the extent of the 
decrease previously charged there.  

A revaluation decrease was debited to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that 
there was a balance on the Reserve for that asset and thereafter to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Following initial recognition, vehicles, fixtures and fittings and computer equipment 
were carried at depreciated historic cost, as a proxy for fair value. 

All dwellings not subject to sale to Capita were transferred at their net book value to 
DCLG in March 2013. 

No indexation of property plant & equipment assets was carried out in 2012-13.  
Whilst it would have been in line with the College’s normal accounting policy to apply 
indexation this was not considered necessary because of the adoption of non-going 
concern and the imminent sale. Had indexation been applied the amount is estimated 
at £409,000. 

Depreciation was provided on property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land 
and dwellings, at rates estimated to write off the valuation of each asset evenly over 
its expected useful economic life.  These rates were as follows: 

•	 Freehold buildings and dwellings 10-50 years; 
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•	 Incident ground facilities 5-50 years; 
•	 Site infrastructure   10-50 years; 
•	 Vehicles 3-15 years; 
•	 Fixtures and fittings 1-15 years; and 
•	 Computer equipment 1-15 years 

Due to the sale of the College, depreciation of property, plant and equipment shown 
in the final statements for the year was for 11 months to 28 February 2013. 

e. Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which arise 
from contractual or other legal rights.  They were recognised only when it was 
probable that future economic benefits will flow, or service potential be provided, to 
the College and where the cost of the asset could be measured reliably. 

Material product development costs with a reasonable expectation of commercial 
exploitation were capitalised as Intangible Assets provided all of the following have 
been demonstrated: 

•	 the technical feasibility of developing the product so that it would be available 
for use; 

•	 the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it; 
•	 the ability to sell or use the intangible asset; 
•	 how the intangible asset would generate probable future economic benefits or 

service potential; 
•	 the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to 

complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and 
•	 the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible 

asset during its development. 
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets was the sum 
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above were initially met.  
Where no internally-generated intangible asset could be recognised, the expenditure 
was charged in the period in which it is incurred. 

Following initial recognition, intangible assets were carried at amortised replacement 
cost as a proxy for fair value. Amortisation was over 3-5 years. 

f. Impairment 
At each Statement of Financial Position date the College checked whether there was 
any indication that any of its non-current assets had suffered an impairment loss.  If 
there was an indication of an impairment loss the recoverable amount of the asset 
was estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount.  

If there had been an impairment loss the asset was written down to its recoverable 
amount with the loss charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there was 
a balance on the Reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Where an impairment loss subsequently reversed, the 
carrying amount of the asset was increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable 
amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been 
no initial impairment loss.  The reversal of the impairment loss was credited to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income to the extent of the decrease previously 
charged there and thereafter to the Revaluation Reserve. 
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g. Inventories 
Inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

h. Retirement benefit costs 
Most employees of the College were members of the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS) which is an unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme in 
which the employer's share of the underlying assets and liabilities is not identified.  
Accordingly the PCSPS was accounted for as if it were a defined contribution plan 
where the cost of the College's participation in the scheme was equal to the employer 
contributions payable to the Scheme for the accounting period.  Two employees 
belonged to a Money Purchase Scheme (See Note 4.1). 

i. Research and development 
Research, development (except where capitalised as an intangible asset – see Note 
1.e) and product maintenance expenditure was written off in the year in which it was 
incurred. 

j. Insurance 
The College insured its trading activities by the purchase of policies for professional 
indemnity insurance and travel insurance.  Apart from these, the College did not 
purchase external insurance exercising instead self insurance, as required by 
Managing Public Money. Had a material loss occurred, the College would have 
consulted the DCLG Secretary of State about the action to be taken. 

k. Leases 
Leases were classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee.  All other leases were classified 
as operating leases. 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases were initially recognised, at 
the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the 
lessor. Lease payments were apportioned between finance charges and a reduction 
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability.  Finance charges were recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Rentals under operating leases were charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

l. Government grants 
In accordance with the FReM capital government grants were recognised when there 
was reasonable assurance that the College would comply with the conditions 
attached and that the grant would be received.  On initial recognition capital grants 
were credited to and included in other income in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Prior to 2012-13, the College credited the grant to a Government Grant 
Reserve and released income to the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the 
life of the relevant asset. The change in treatment was considered a change in 
accounting policy and therefore, in accordance with IAS 8, a prior year adjustment 
has been made. 
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m. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash was cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents were investments that 
matured in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that were readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.  

n. Provisions 
Provisions were recognised where the College had a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, it was probable that the College would be 
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate could be made of the amount 
of the obligation.  The amount recognised was the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the obligation at the Statement of Financial Position date.  Where 
material, the cash flows expected to meet the obligations were discounted to present 
values using an appropriate discount rate.  

o. Financial instruments 
Financial assets were recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the 
College became party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services had been delivered. 

Financial assets of the College consisted of short-term receivables and cash and 
bank balances which were classified as loans and receivables.  Financial assets were 
initially recognised at fair value with non-current financial assets recognised 
subsequently at amortised cost less any impairment.  

Financial liabilities were recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the 
College became party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in 
the case of trade payables, when the goods or services had been received.  Financial 
liabilities were de-recognised when the liability had been discharged, that is, the 
liability had been paid or had expired. 

Financial liabilities of the College consisted of short-term trade payables and long-
term interest-bearing Government loans which were classified as financial liabilities at 
amortised cost and included in the Statement of Financial Position under current and 
non-current liabilities.  Financial liabilities were initially recognised at fair value and 
thereafter at amortised cost. 

p. Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Where the College charged VAT the amounts included in revenue were stated net of 
VAT. Where the College was able to claim input VAT the relevant expense accounts 
were reflected net of VAT. Irrecoverable VAT was charged to the relevant 
expenditure category or included in the capitalised cost of property, plant and 
equipment. As the majority of the College’s sales were training related, they were 
exempt from VAT. The College was, however, entitled to claim input tax on partial 
exemption and this is credited to other income.   

q. Foreign exchange 
Transactions in foreign currencies were recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction.  Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated 
at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.  Any 
differences arising were taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

- 44 -




 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

 
 

 

 
 

8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

r. Revenue 
Revenue was shown net of VAT and comprised income from course attendances, 
use of College facilities and sundry services.  It represented the value of services 
provided from the ordinary activities of the business during the year.  The College 
recognised revenue when, and to the extent that, it obtained the right to consideration 
in return for performance.  Where a course had only been partially completed at the 
date of the Statement of Financial Position, revenue represents the value of the 
service provided to date, based on the proportion of the course delivered.  Where 
payments were received from customers in advance of services provided, the 
amounts were recorded as deferred income and included as part of trade and other 
payables due within one year. 

s. Public Dividend Capital 
Public Dividend Capital was included in Taxpayers' Equity.  At any time the DCLG 
Secretary of State could issue new Public Dividend Capital to or require repayments 
of Public Dividend Capital from the College.  Public Dividend Capital was recorded at 
the value received. As Public Dividend Capital was issued under legislation rather 
than under contract, it was not treated as an equity financial instrument.  As part of 
the accounting adjustments made on the sale of the College and closure of the 
Trading Fund on 31 March 2013, the Public Dividend Capital was waived by DCLG. 

t. Cash management 
The College's policy was to maintain liquid resources in interest-bearing commercial 
bank accounts, or on money market deposits, in accounts which were repayable on 
demand or at short notice. 

u. Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not been adopted 
A number of new or amended accounting standards and interpretations had been 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) which were only 
applicable with effect from the 2013-14 financial year and later.  These are not listed 
because of the closure of the Trading Fund. 

Note 2. Revenue Analysis and Segmental Reporting 
2.1 Analysis of Revenue by Customer Type 

Year ended Year ended 
31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 

£'000 £'000 

UK Fire and Rescue Services 6,007 7,705 
DCLG 47 773 
Other public sector 2,055 2,607 
Total public sector income 8,109 11,085 

UK private sector 1,398 1,718 
Overseas customers 2,748 3,957 
Individuals 10 119 
Total private sector income 4,156 5,794 

Total revenue 12,265 16,879 
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Note 3. Trading Deficit for the Year 
Year ended Year ended 
31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 

restated 
Note £'000 £'000 

The trading deficit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) 
the following: 

Rental income (239) (329) 
Rentals under operating leases 155 154 
External audit fee(1) 

114 63 
Travel, subsistence and hospitality 82 108 
Management Board costs 625 603 
Capital grant - (432) 

Non-cash items: 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 2,259 2,156 
Amortisation of intangible assets 8 147 240 
Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment - (58) 
Loss/(profit) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - (145) 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 -

Costs from sale/closure 
Losses on sale: 
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment(2) 

7 30,932 -
Gain from disposal of net current liabilities 23 (1,099) -

29,833 -
Gains from closure: 
Write off of intangible assets(3) 

8  107 -
Gain from write off of loans 18 (967) -
Gain from transfer of net current liabilities to DCLG 23 (446) -

(1,306) -

Total 28,527 -

Note 1: The external audit fee is the fee for the Comptroller and Auditor General's annual 
certification of the College's Financial Statements.  The actual fee in respect of 2012-
13 was £89,000, the amount shown above for 2012-13 also includes £25,000 in 
respect of 2011-12.  There was no remuneration due for non-audit work in current or 
previous years. 

Note 2: The accounting treatment adopted means that all property, plant and equipment 
assets remaining on closure were treated as disposals with a resulting loss recorded in 
the accounts of the College.  The receipt from the sale to Capita was recognised by the 
Department. 

Note 3: Intangible assets were not included in the sale to Capita so have been written 
off, at 28 February, as having no further use and hence nil value. 
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Note 4. Staff Numbers and Related Costs 
4.1 Staff Costs 

Year ended Year ended 
31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 

£'000 £'000 

Wages and salaries 3,320 4,245 
Social security costs 242 310 
Superannuation costs 571 767 
Seconded staff 2,160 2,084 
Visiting lecturers & tutors and other contracted staff 1,464 1,643 
Total 7,757 9,049 

Pensions – Civil Servants 
The Superannuation Acts 1965 and 1972 and subsequent amendments apply to those 
members of staff who were Civil Servants.  The PCSPS is an unfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme, in which the employer's share of the underlying assets and 
liabilities is not identified.  A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2007.   

From 30 July 2007, Civil Servants may be in one of four defined benefit schemes: either 
a final salary scheme (Classic, Premium or Classic Plus); or a whole career scheme 
(Nuvos). These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the cost of benefits met by 
monies voted by Parliament each year. New entrants after 1 October 2002 may opt for 
either the appropriate defined benefit arrangement or joining a good quality ‘money 
purchase’ stakeholder arrangement with a significant employer contribution (partnership 
pension account). 

Pensions payable under Classic, Premium, Classic Plus and Nuvos were been increased 
annually in line with changes in the Retail Prices Index (RPI) up to 1st April 2011, and in 
line with changes in the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) thereafter.    

Employee contributions were set at the rate of 1.5% of pensionable earnings for Classic 
and 3.5% for Premium, Classic Plus and Nuvos.  Benefits in Classic accrue at the rate of 
1/80th of final pensionable salary for each year of service.  In addition, a lump sum 
equivalent to three years’ pension is payable on retirement.  For Premium, benefits 
accrue at the rate of 1/60th of final pensionable earnings for each year of service.  Unlike 
Classic, there is no automatic lump sum.  Classic Plus is essentially a variation of 
Premium, but with benefits in respect of service before 1 October 2002 calculated 
broadly in the same way as in Classic. In Nuvos a member builds up a pension based on 
his/her pensionable earnings during their period of scheme membership.  At the end of 
the scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned pension account is credited with 2.3% 
of their pensionable earnings in that scheme year and the accrued pension is up rated in 
line with RPI (CPI from 1 April 2012).  In all cases members may opt to give up 
(commute) pension for lump sum up to the limits set by the Finance Act 2004. 

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement.  The employer 
makes a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending on the age of the 
member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee from a selection of 
approved products. The employee does not have to contribute but where they do make 
contributions, the employer will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary (in 
addition to the employer’s basic contribution).  Employers also contribute a further 0.8% 
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of pensionable salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover (death in 
service and ill health retirement). 

For 2012-13, employers' contributions of £571,000 were payable to the PCSPS (2011-
12: £767,000) at one of four rates in the range 16.7% to 24.3% of pensionable pay, 
based on salary bands.  The contribution rates reflect benefits as they are accrued, not 
when the costs are actually incurred, and reflect past experience of the scheme. 

Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the 
website: www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk. 

Pensions - Firefighters 
Regular fire fighters employed before 6 April 2006 were eligible for membership of the 
Firefighters’ Pension Scheme (FPS).  The Scheme was closed to new entrants with 
effect from 5 April 2006.  A New Firefighters Pension Scheme (NFPS) was introduced for 
regular and retained firefighters employed since 6 April 2006. 

Responsibility for policy on the firefighters’ pension schemes rests with DCLG, working 
with administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. The administration and 
payment of individual pensions and benefits is the responsibility of Fire and Rescue 
Authorities. Both Schemes (FPS and NFPS) are unfunded, defined benefit schemes. 

The overall cost of funding the scheme was assessed by the Government Actuary’s 
Department in 2007.  The cost of benefits accruing for each year of membership was 
assessed as 37.7% of pensionable pay for FPS members and 23.7% of pensionable pay 
for NFPS members, of which the seconded officer contributes 11% and 8.5% 
retrospectively. £331,000 was charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure (2011-12: £326,000). This represented the reimbursement of employer 
contributions made by FRSs which was recharged to the College. 

The total amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure in respect 
of pension contributions is as follows: 

Year ended Year ended 

31 March 31 March
 

2013 2012
 
£000s £000s
 

Civil Service contributions 571 767
 
Seconded staff contributions 331 326
 

Charge for year 902 1,093
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4.2 Average number of persons employed or contracted 

Year ended  31 Mar 13 Year ended 31 Mar 12 
Average  Average  

Full Time  Average Full Time  Average 
Equivalent Number Equivalent Number 

Senior Management staff 7 7 7 7 
Teaching staff 61 62 64 65 
Non Teaching direct, safety and support staff 65 65 62 64 
Administration staff 56 62 64 68 
Non-Executive Directors - 3 - 3 

189 199 197 207 

Civil Service staff - employed 136 143 149 156 
Seconded staff 5 5 29 29 
Visiting Lecturers and Tutors 15 15 16 16 
Other contracted staff 33 33 3 3 
Non-Executive Directors - 3 - 3 

189 199 197 207 

4.3 	 Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes – exit packages 
There were no compulsory or voluntary redundancy exits in 2012-13. 

There were 13 exits as a result of voluntary redundancy in 2011-12 as detailed below 

Number of voluntary redundancies 
2012-13 2011-12 

Exit package cost band
 £ 0 - £ 25,000 - 3 

£25,000 - £  50,000 - 4 
£50,000 - £100,000 - 6 
Total number	 - 13 

£'000 £'000 

Total resource cost	 - 700 

Redundancy and other departure costs were paid in accordance with the provisions 
of the Civil Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the 
Superannuation Act 1972.  Exit costs were accounted for in full in the year of 
departure. 
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Note 5. Interest Receivable 

Year ended 
31 Mar 13 

£'000 

Year ended 
31 Mar 12 

£'000 

Bank interest 4 23 

Note 6. Interest Payable 

Year ended 
31 Mar 13 

£'000 

Year ended 
31 Mar 12 

£'000 

Long-term loans 344 377 
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Financial Report:8 Notes to the Accounts 

Note 8. Intangible assets 

Product 
development 

£'000 
Cost or Valuation 
At 1 April 2012 1,297 
Write off on closure (148) 
De-recognition (1,149) 

At 31 March 2013 -

Accumulated Amortisation 
At 1 April 2012 1,043 
Amortisation charge for the year 147 
Write off on closure (41) 
De-recognition (1,149) 

At 31 March 2013 -

Carrying value at 31 March 2013 -

Cost or Valuation 
At 1 April 2011 1,297 
At 31 March 2012 1,297 

Accumulated Amortisation 
At 1 April 2011 803 
Amortisation charge for the year 240 

At 31 March 2012 1,043 

Carrying value at 31 March 2012 254 

No intangible assets were capitalised in the years 2012-13 or 2011-12 consistent with the 
College’s accounting policies set out in Note 1e.  All intangible assets were written off to 
zero value at 28 February 2013. 

Note 9. Inventories 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Consumables - 38 

All inventories were included in working capital as part of the sale to Capita on 28 February 
2013 and so have been reported as a loss in these accounts. 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

Note 10. Trade and other receivables 
10.1 Analysis of trade and other receivables 

Amounts falling due within one year: 
Trade receivables 
Less: Provision for doubtful receivables 

Other receivables 
Prepayments and accrued income 

31 Mar 13 
£'000 

-
-
-
-
-

31 Mar 12 
£'000 

4,065 
(1,103) 
2,962 

305 
501 

- 3,768 

All trade and other receivables were included in working capital as part of the sale to Capita 
on 28 February 2013 and so have been reported as a loss in these accounts. 

Included within receivables falling due within one year are the following intra-Governmental 
balances: 

31 Mar 13 
£'000 

31 Mar 12 
£'000 

Central government 
Local authorities 
Public corporations and trading funds 

Non-government bodies 

-
-
-
-

-

-

65 
721 
228 

1,014  

2,754 

3,768 

10.2 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 

31 Mar 13 
£'000 

31 Mar 12 
£'000 

By 1 month 
By 2 months 
By 3 months 
By more than 4 months 

-
-
-
-
-

130 
9 
2 

1,094 
1,235 
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31 Mar 13  31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

  Amounts falling due within one year 

Trade payables - 668 
Accruals - 2,779 
Deferred income - 867 

- 4,314 
 

 

 

8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

10.3 Provision for doubtful receivables 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 1,103 1,352 
Amount written off during the year (765) (80) 
(Decrease)/increase in receivables impaired (338) (169) 

Balance at 31 March - 1,103 

Note 11. Cash and cash equivalents 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2,781 2,203 
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances (2,781) 578 
Balance at 31 March - 2,781  

The College's cash balances were kept in interest bearing current or short term treasury 
deposit accounts with the Lloyds TSB Banking Group. The College’s bank account was 
closed on 28 March 2013 with the balance at closure transferred to DCLG. 

Note 12. Assets held for sale 
The land sold under Phase 3 of the land sale of 2010-11 was included within current assets 
as an asset held for sale at 31 March 2012.  The full value of £3.3 million was received in 
January 2013. 

Note 13. Trade and other payables 

 

All trade and other payables were included in working capital as part of the sale to Capita 
on 28 February 2013 and so have been reported as a gain in these accounts. 

Included within payables falling due within one year are the following intra-Governmental 
balances: 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Central government - 984 
Local authorities - 735 
Public corporations and trading funds - 7 

- 1,726  

Non-government bodies - 2,588 

- 4,314 

Note 14. Loans 
14.1 Current loans 

Government loans 
Other loans 

31 Mar 13 
£'000 

-
-

31 Mar 12 
£'000 

43 
24 

- 67 

14.2 Non-current government loans 

Repayable as follows: 
Over 1 up to 2 years 
Over 2 up to 5 years 
After 5 years 

31 Mar 13 
£'000 

-
-
-
-

31 Mar 12 
£'000 

46 
52 

4,350 

4,448 

All loans were taken out between 1992 and 1994, were unsecured and repayable in 
instalments of £209,000 (including interest) paid twice every year.  All loans had rates of 
interest which were fixed for the full period of the loan, which varied between 20 and 60 
years. As a result of the sale and planned closure of the Fire Service College Trading 
Fund, the loans were partly repaid in March 2013 without any charge for early repayment, 
with the outstanding balance remaining written off by agreement with DCLG.  The weighted 
average period of loans at 31 March 2013 was nil (2011-12: 40 years) and the weighted 
average interest rate was 0% (2011-12:  8.37%). 
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Personal  
 Injury Pension 

Claims Liabilities Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 

   Balance at 1 April 2012 74 540 614 
Provided/(released) in the year 6 (53) (47) 

 Utilised in the year (31) (30) (61) 
 Write back on closure (49) (457) (506) 

-Balance at 31 March 2013 - -

 Analysis of expected timing of cash flows: 
 Within 1 year - - -

  Over 2 up to 5 years - - -
 After five years - - -

-Balance at 31 March 2013 - -

 
 

 

8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

14.3 Non-current other loan 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Repayable as follows: 
Over 1 up to 2 years - 24 
Over 2 up to 5 years - 13 
After 5 years - -

- 37  

The other loan was with Salix Energy Efficiency Loan Scheme which was set up in 2010-11 
to finance the purchase of energy efficiency assets.  The loan was unsecured, interest free 
and repayable in instalments of £12,242 twice every year until original completion in 2014-
15. The loans were repaid during 2012-13, without additional cost, to enable the related 
assets to be included in the sale to Capita on 28 February 2013. 

Note 15. Provisions 

The provision for personal injury was based on claims initiated against the College.  The 
amount of the provision represented an assessment of the cost to the College based on 
legal advice and covered the estimated compensation and relevant legal costs. 

The pension provision related to pension liabilities set up in previous years, part of which 
were payable monthly to two past employees and part a provision against future claims 
based on experience over the last five years. 

All provisions were included as part of the sale to Capita on 28 February 2013 and so have 
been reported as a gain in these accounts. 
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Financial Report:8 Notes to the Accounts 

Note 16. Public Dividend Capital 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Issued pursuant to Government Trading Funds Act 1973 - 16,721  

Following the sale of the business assets and related liabilities to Capita, the remaining 
assets and liabilities were transferred to DCLG at their net book value.  The cash balance 
at closure was utilised in part payment of the government loans and accrued interest to 28 
February 2013. All Public Dividend Capital was waived by DCLG in March 2013.to enable 
the Fire Service College Trading Fund to close on 31 March 2013 (see the details in the 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the Year ended 31 March 2013). 

Note 17. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended Year ended 
31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 

restated 
£'000 £'000 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities 
Net deficit for the year after interest (4,704) (2,567) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,259 2,156 
Amortisation of intangible assets 147 240 
Loss/(profit) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment - (145) 
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5) (58) 
Decrease in provisions in the year (108) (514) 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories (26) 13 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (120) 5,225 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 992 (5,857) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,565) (1,507) 

Note that Operating activities are defined as activities during the trading period to 28 
February 2013 
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Financial Report:8 Notes to the Accounts 

Note 18. Analysis of change in financing 

Long Term Loans 
Repayable Repayable 
Within One After One 

Year Year Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April 2012 67 4,485 4,552 
Movement from long term to short term loan 4,485 (4,485) -
Loans repaid (3,585) - (3,585) 
Loans waived by DCLG (967) - (967) 

At 31 March 2013 - - -

Note 19. Capital Commitments 
At 31 March 2013 the College had no contractual commitments for capital expenditure in 
respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment.  In 2011-12 there were 
commitments of £128,000 which were made up as follows: 

31 Mar 13 31 Mar 12 
£'000 £'000 

Buildings - 16 
Computer equipment - 39 
Fireground Facilities - 15 
Vehicles, furniture and equipment - 58 
Total capital commitments - 128  

Note 20. Commitments under Leases 
20.1 Operating Leases 

The College entered into a number of leases in respect of photocopiers and printers.  
These were classified as operating leases and at 31 January 2012 all leases expired and 
had been extended on a short-term basis with nominal rentals being paid.  The College did 
not hold any leases in respect of land and buildings (2011-12: nil). 

Note 21. Contingent Liabilities 
The College Trading Fund does not have any outstanding contingent liabilities.  In 2011-12 
two contingent liabilities were reported, one related to tax planning and one arising from a 
counter claim received in 2010 relating to debt recovery.  Both have been resolved without  
materialising. 

Note 22. Government grant reserve restatement 
During the year, it was realised that the College had not updated its accounting policy 
relating to changes in the treatment of government grants introduced across government 
for the 2011-12 financial year.  As a result, prior period adjustments have been made to the 
accounts the two years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012 as required by IAS 8.  
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as reported    Changes reported in 2012-13 accounts 
 in 2011-12
 

accounts
 

 Gov grant Gov grant  Retained  Revaluation  SoCI 
reserve reserve earnings reserve 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 31 March 2011 (14,642) 14,642  (15,261) -  619 

Gov grant rec'd (432) 432  - (432) -
Gov grant amortisation 559 (559) - 559  -
Revaluation surplus (1,165) 1,165  - - (1,165) 
Realised depreciation 

 At 31 March 2012 

95 (95) - -  95 

(15,585) 15,585  (15,261) 127  (451) 
 

 

At 28 February 2013  Net assets 
 FSC SoFP  included in sale Transferred to   Loss arising 

before closure by DCLG to  DCLG from disposal 
Capita 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 36,722 30,932 5,790 0 
Intangible assets 107 - - 107 

36,829 30,932 5,790 107  Total non-current assets 

Current assets 
Inventories 64 64 - -
Trade and other receivables 3,888 3,888 - -

 Cash and cash equivalents 3,828 - 3,828 -
  Assets held  for  sale  - - - -

7,780 3,952 3,828 - Total current assets 

Total assets 44,609 34,884 9,618 107 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables (5,316) (4,545) (771) -
Loans (4,470) - (3,503) (967) 
Provisions (506) (506) - -

 Total current liabilities (10,292) (5,051) (4,274) (967) 

Net assets 34,317 29,833 5,344 (860) 

 

8 Financial Report: 

Notes to the Accounts 


Changes have been made to the individual reserve balances in the Statement of 
Taxpayers’ Equity and the Statement of Financial Position with changes to income shown 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Note 23. Movement of College assets and liabilities 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

The College Statement of Financial Position included a number of entries summarised 
above. This note shows that the book value of College net assets transferred to DCLG and 
subsequently included in the sale to Capita was £29.8 million.  A net £5.3 million of assets 
were transferred and retained by DCLG. 

Note 24. Statement of Losses, Special and Other Payments 
During the year the Directors procured an investigation by PricewaterhouseCoopers into 
the recoverability of a large European debt and sought further advice from DCLG.  After 
due consideration, it was concluded that the recoverability actions would take considerable 
time and cost, without the confidence that the third party would be able to clear the debt if 
successful. As such, the Directors and DCLG agreed that the best course of action was to 
write off the debt of £719,652, that had been 100% provided for in 2011-12. 

Note 25. Related Party Transactions 
As stated in the Annual Report, the College was an Executive Agency, with Trading Fund 
status. Responsibility for the College rested with DCLG.  In the normal course of its 
business, the College provided fire related training to the public and private sectors. During 
the period, the College had a significant number of material transactions with related 
parties as follows: 

•	 DCLG: revenue of £nil (2011-12; £0.8 million); transfer of land and buildings of £4.5 
million net (2011-12 £nil) (Note 7), repayment of the Government Loans £3.6 million 
(2011-12 £19,000), and waiver of PDC £16.7 million (2011-12 £nil) (Note 16);  

•	 UK FRS: revenue of £6.0 million (2011-12; £7.7 million); expenditure of £1.7 million 
(2011-12; £1.7 million); 

•	 Other Government Agencies: 
o	 National Resilience Assurance Team: £1.4 million revenue (2011-12; £1.8 

million); 
o	 The Department of Health: £0.3 million revenue (2011-12; £0.1 million); 
o	 HM Prison Service: £nil million revenue (2011-12; £0.2 million); 
o	 The Environment Agency: £0.2 million revenue (2011-12; £0.1 million); 
o	 The Home Office: £4.0 million expenditure (2011-12; £5.0 million); 
o	 HM Revenue & Customs: £0.2 million expenditure (2011-12; £0.4 million); 

•	 Mr Vogel’s services as Interim Finance and Commercial Director were procured by 
the College through Opus One Consultancy Limited, of which Mr. Vogel is a major 
shareholder. For 2012-13, expenditure of £141,081 (2011-12: £104,000) including 
VAT was invoiced by the company in respect of his services and the College had a 
nil balance as at 28 February 2013; 

•	 Mr Copley’s services as Interim Business Development Director were procured by 
the College, from 1 June 2011, through Linden Lea International Limited, of which 
Mr. Copley is a major shareholder. For 2012-13, expenditure of £106,848 (2011-12: 
£92,000) including VAT was invoiced by the company in respect of his services and 
the College had a £24,444 accrual balance as at 28 February 2013. 

Trade receivable balances with related parties are summarised in Note 10.1.  Trade and 
other payable balances with related parties are summarised in Note 13. 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

None of the College’s Management Board members, key management staff or other 
related parties undertook any material transactions with the College during the year except 
as noted above. 

No Directors of the College recorded in the Register of Interests during the year 
shareholdings in companies with which the College had business dealings except as noted 
above. 

Note 26. Third party assets 
The College did not hold any third party assets. 

Note 27. Trading fund objectives 
The DCLG Secretary of State determined financial objectives for the Fire Service College 
Trading Fund.  These were confirmed by Treasury Minute dated 12 October 2009. 

The financial objective for the College was to achieve a return of a minimum of 4% 
averaged over the period 1 April 2009 to 28 February 2013, in the form of a surplus on 
ordinary activities before interest and dividends expressed as a percentage of average 
capital employed. 

The trading deficit of £3.5 million before interest (2011-12: £2.2 million deficit) represented 
a negative return on the average net assets employed of 12.6% (2011-12: negative return 
5.4%). The cumulative negative return on average net assets for the 3 year period 1 April 
2010 to 31 March 2013 was 29.1% (2011-12: 18.5%). 

Note 28. Financial instruments 

At 31 March 2013 At 31 March 2012 
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value 

£000s £000s £000s £000s £000s £000s 
Financial assets 

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 
Trade  receivables 2,962 2,962 
Other receivables - - - 305 
Less: Non-financial assets (34) 271 271 

Cash and cash equivalents	 - - 2,781 2,781 
- - 6,014 6,014 

Financial liabilities - at amortised cost 

Trade payables - - 668 668 
Long term loans 4,485 4,491 

- -	 5,153 5,159 

The total instalments of capital and interest remaining to be paid to extinguish the long-term 
loans over their contracted terms amounted to £nil million (2011-12: £16.0 million). 
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8 Financial Report: 
Notes to the Accounts 

Note 29. Capital management and financial risks 
Capital management 

The capital structure of the College is presented in the Statement of Financial Position.  
The College’s policy was to ensure that adequate financial resources were available for the 
management and development of the College’s business whilst managing its market and 
credit risks.  Note 16 provides details of its Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and, in addition, 
the College had several long-term Government and other loans outlined in Notes 14.1, 14.2 
and 14.3 to the Accounts.  In March 2013, the Government loans were party repaid before 
the remaining balance, and full balance of the PDC, was waived. 

Liquidity risk 
The responsibility for the overall financing of the College rested with DCLG which would 
have provided financial support for any shortfall in available cash resources to meet the 
operating costs of the College.  As a result, the College did not have significant exposure to 
liquidity risks. 

Interest rate risk 
The interest bearing loans represent nil% (2011-12: 11.9%) of Total Taxpayers' Equity and 
the interest rate was fixed.  Deposits which earned interest at a variable rate against bank 
base rate represented nil% (2011-12: 7.3%) of Total Taxpayers' Equity. 

The College had a number of loans with HM Treasury via the DCLG Secretary of State.  
Interest rates were fixed for the entire period of the loans.  The College, therefore, had no 
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.  All these loans have now been repaid or waived. 

Foreign currency risk 
The College had an immaterial exposure to liabilities or expenditure denominated in foreign 
currencies. 

Credit risk 
The majority of the College's revenue came from services provided to Government 
departments and other public sector bodies, and this revenue had low exposure to credit 
risk. The College had credit risk with regard to overseas and private sector receivables.  
Management had procedures in place to manage and minimise the risk of losses from 
default. 

Market risk 
Approximately 66% of total revenues in 2012-13 were derived from the public sector (2011-
12: 66%) which has been subject to continuing budget constraints, adversely impacting on 
their overall training spend at the College.  

Given the budget pressures of its UK customers, the degree of competition and the 
College’s high overheads the FRS market outlook is conservative.  As a result, the College 
remained focused on growing its international business. 

Interoperability was a key requirement of local and national resilience, which were mutually 
dependant and vital to national security.  As such, as well as maintaining the FRS business 
and growing International business, the College’s strategy also included the development 
of this emerging market for multi-agency interoperability, including joint training and 
exercising. Multi-agency training included other responders and critical infrastructure 
organisations and was not limited to the emergency services. 
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8 Financial Report: 
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The College’s revenue fell significantly in the last three years, but management stabilised 
the business, significantly reducing costs and improving operational and commercial 
controls to provide a platform for future growth.  There was still a market risk to the College 
but this was addressed by developing a much more focused business in better shape for 
competing in both the UK and the overseas marketplace. Note the business is now under 
the control of Capita plc. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A review of the various market risks to which the College was exposed, indicated that a 
sensitivity analysis was not necessary for most risks, due to immateriality as in the case of 
currency or interest rate risk. As stated before, most customers were UK Government 
funded, but the College had a potential credit risk with overseas customers, although most 
of these are also funded by their own governments. 

Note 30. Events after the reporting period 
No significant events have taken place since 31 March 2013 that have not been accounted 
for within the Financial Statements and which require further disclosure. 

DCLG has subsequently received £0.9 million in payment of the final amount due from the 
sale. 

The College's Annual Report and Accounts are laid before the Houses of Parliament.  IAS 
10 (Events after the Reporting Period) requires the College to disclose the date on which 
the accounts are authorised for issue. The authorised date for issue is the date the Annual 
Report and Accounts are certified by the Comptroller and Auditor General. 
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9 Appendix: Accounts Direction 


Appendix: Accounts Direction given by The Treasury in accordance with 

Section 4(6)(A) of The Government Trading Funds Act 1973 


1. This direction applies to the trading funds listed in the attached appendix.  
2. These trading funds shall prepare accounts for the year ended 31 March 2013 in 

compliance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the 
edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual issued by H M Treasury 
(“the FReM”) which is in force for 2012-13. 

3. The accounts shall be prepared so as: 
(a) to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 31 March 2013 and of 

the income and expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity, and cash flows of 
the trading fund for the year then ended; and  

(b) to provide disclosure of any material income or expenditure that has not 
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament, or material 
transactions that have not conformed to the authorities which govern them. 

4. Compliance with the requirements of the FReM will, in all but exceptional 
circumstances, be necessary for the accounts to give a true and fair view. If, in 
these exceptional circumstances, compliance with the requirements of the FReM is 
inconsistent with the requirement to give a true and fair view, the requirements of 
the FReM should be departed from only to the extent necessary to give a true and 
fair view. In such cases, informed and unbiased judgement should be used to 
devise an appropriate alternative treatment which should be consistent with both 
the economic characteristics of the circumstances concerned and the spirit of the 
FReM. Any material departure from the FReM should be discussed in the first 
instance with HM Treasury. 

- 66 -




Published by TSO (The Stationery Office) and available from: 

Online 
www.tsoshop.co.uk 

Mail, Telephone, Fax & E-mail 
TSO 
PO Box 29, Norwich NR3 1GN 
Telephone orders/General enquiries: 0870 600 5522 
Order through the Parliamentary Hotline Lo-Call: 0845 7 023474 
Fax orders: 0870 600 5533 
Email: customer.services@tso.co.uk 
Textphone: 0870 240 3701 

The Houses of Parliament Shop 
12 Bridge Street, Parliament Square 
London SW1A 2JX 
Telephone orders: 020 7219 3890/General enquiries: 020 7219 3890 
Fax orders: 020 7219 3866 
Email: shop@parliament.uk 
Internet: http://www.shop.parliament.uk 

TSO@Blackwell and other accredited agents 

http:http://www.shop.parliament.uk
mailto:shop@parliament.uk
mailto:customer.services@tso.co.uk
http:www.tsoshop.co.uk


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles false
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /OK
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /Off
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 524288
  /LockDistillerParams true
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize false
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo true
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts false
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages false
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages false
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages false
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 600
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError false
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox false
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /Unknown

  /CreateJDFFile false
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




